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o much to do, so little time. In early 2008, when the Accounting Standards
Board (AcSB) announced that Canada’s publicly accountable entities (PAEs)
would have to report under international financial reporting standards (IFRS)
as of January 1, 2011, many entities did not take it too seriously, thinking there
was ample time to plan the transition and to assign adequate resources to the
project. Sixteen months later, these companies find themselves in the middle
of a global financial crisis and recession, many fighting for their
lives, with half the time gone by.
In April 2008, CAmagazine
published a special issue on the
transition, outlining various implementation scenarios and pointing out available resources. Since
then, many more articles have
been published on critical issues
regarding this historic transition.
Meanwhile, the US Securities and
Exchange Commission and the US
standard-setter, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, have
all but confirmed a date for the
US to also adopt IFRS. Our own
AcSB confirmed in spring that it
was not moving the adoption date
of January 1, 2011. We asked freelance writer Jeff Buckstein to go out
in the field and report on the state of
Canada’s readiness for IFRS. Don’t miss his “Conversion checkup” article (p. 28).
One of the more serious sources of anxiety for accountants involved in the transition to IFRS is comparability with current GAAP. To help with this, the CICA
has published 2009 Financial Reporting in Canada under IFRS, and we asked two
of the authors, Nadi Chlala and Andrée Lavigne, to compare the major elements
of the two standards (“Seven key differences,” p. 36).
Our Regulars skip IFRS-related topics this month. The section features articles
on taxation (“New tax savings opportunity,” p. 44); taxation for small businesses
(“A few green measures,” p. 54); assurance (“Realistic strategies,” p. 48); standards
(“Going global,” p. 51); and people management (“Management myths,” p. 57).
In his Netwatch column, Jim Carroll talks about “Accountancy in the Twitter
era” (p. 14), while Michael Burns explains that downtime created by the recession
can be an opportunity to train employees instead of letting them go (p. 16). As for
Marcel Côté, he reflects on “Corporate compensation” (p. 68).
Finally, I would invite you to visit our redesigned website, www.camagazine.
com. More user-friendly, it offers up-to-date content on finance, business and accounting issues, and a powerful search engine to help you find articles of interest.
Let us know what you think; drop me a line at christian.bellavance@cica.ca.
Christian Bellavance, Editor-in-chief
CA magazine
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contain the cause
While appreciating Peter Hatges’ guidance
for dealing with the current economic
climate (“Containing financial contagion,” January/February), the goal should
be eliminating the cause of financial contagion, or at least containing it. The cause
of the disease is greed — the making of
money and not the making of wealth. The
cure likely has more to do with values and
ethics than anything else. Is it ever thus?
Trevor Shaw, CA, CMC
Ottawa

magnifying glass helps me with the font
size. And yes, to answer the obvious rebuttal, I have had these old eyes checked
recently.

The latter appears to apply to Bennett
Gold and therefore good luck to them.
Either you like the work or you do not. I
do, so I stay.

William Betsworth, CA
Toronto

John E. Schmidt, CA
Kitchener, Ont.

The editor’s reply to H.A. Sherman’s letter about legibility of the magazine shows
that your priority is not respect for the readers but some inexplicable requirement to
“respect the design of the magazine.”
Jo Menkus
Hillsboro, Tenn.

letters about letters

all work, no play

As a retired Life Member of ICAO, I can
empathize with CAmagazine reader H.A.
Sherman (Mailbox, “Retaining readers,”
April) regarding the magazine’s readability. I refer to what I view as lack of contrast
between foreground data and background
in Going Concern (April, p. 10); Standards
digest (p. 15); and the chart “IFRS conversion maturity model (p. 37); and indistinct contrast in the background sections
of charts and graphs in general. A handy

Regarding the “Tax Breaks” story and the
snow angel team (April), I have a maxim
— if employees insist on playing while at
work, they have no leg to stand on if their
employer insists they work when they
are at play.
On the other hand if an employer insists employees play while at work, then
the employer has absolutely no leg to
stand on if employees refuse to work when
they are at play.
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LYNN BISCOTT, CFP, R.F.P.

all in the label
In March’s Assurance regular, “Transparency and accountability,” the regulations
issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators were referred to as Multilateral
Instrument 52-109. This regulation was
issued several months ago using the nomenclature National Instrument 52-109
to indicate that all the provinces and territories agreed to adopt the legislation. A
multilateral label informs the user that
the instrument has not received unanimous approval.
Philip Maguire, CA
Toronto

it’s not only the media
I disagree with most of Lionel S. Such’s
arguments in his letter (Mailbox, “Media-made problem,” April) about global
warming and how, he says, it is made up
by the media.
Over the past 30 years, average temperatures on the planet have been increasing.
There is a consensus in the scientific community that this process has accelerated
in the past 10 years. Whatever happened
in 2008 should be considered in a 10-year
trend. A local event such as a volcano
eruption could be responsible for a slight
decrease in world temperatures.
The Arctic ice cap is melting: 2007
was the worst year ever recorded and
2008 was only slightly better. Overall, the
Arctic Sea could be free of ice in summer

4 CA magazine June/July 2009

09junLetters.indd 2

5/19/2009 12:34:30 PM

Mailbox

in the next 10 years. This is why countries
such as Canada are making great investments to protect and patrol the Arctic region: it is becoming accessible because
there is less ice. Glaciers all around the
world are also melting and this is widely
documented.
In response to Such’s argument about
the eventual cooling of Europe: the Gulf
Stream is a warm ocean current that carries heat to Northern Europe. In some climate change scenarios, this current is believed to be weakening, which could explain the long-term cooling of countries

in this region. This is believed to be largely
compensated by warming in most parts
of the globe.
Today’s temperature is not an indicator of climate change. Climate encompasses large-scale and long-term trends of
atmospheric parameters. Cold days are
still expected to occur in a global warming
scenario.
Much time is wasted trying to convince
people like us to at least believe in science
(as scientists would trust accountants in
our field of competence). We are way past
the stage of believing or not believing in

climate change. We are now evaluating
the consequences and adaptations required to face this problem.
Rima Khouri, CA
Quebec City

CAmagazine welcomes letters
to the Editor. Please write to us at
277 Wellington Street West,
Toronto, Ontario M5V 3H2
e-mail address: letters.editor@cica.ca
Letters may be edited for space and clarity
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UP F R O N T
News, people, briefs, trends + tips

Hooked on lures
Meaningful work,
not more money
Good news for recession-hit employers.
The majority of Canadian workers
are prepared to accept a lower wage
or a lesser role if (and here’s the catch)
their work contributes to something

PHOTO

more meaningful.
In a survey of nearly 100,000 people
in 34 countries conducted by staffing firm
Kelly Services, 58% of respondents said
they would give up some of their salary or
status to do something that is important
to them and their organization.
“They place value on work that is
personally satisfying, builds competence
and self-belief, and helps advance longterm career goals,” says Karin French,
vice-president and managing director of
Kelly’s Canadian operations.

F

A full 90% of those polled say the
work they perform gives them a sense of
pride, while 84% say it raises their

or Syd Pallister, owner and president of Delta, BC-based Gibbs Fishing
self-confidence.
Tackle, the lure of making fishing lures was cast early on. “My memory
for events in my childhood isn’t all that good,” he says, chuckling, “but
I remember almost everything about my family fishing trips.” The native
of Balcarres, Sask., particularly recalls one excursion: in 1972, the first time he had the chance to travel with “the men,”
which included his father, grandfather and their friends. “We drove for 23 hours in a motor home to northern BC. We fished
during the day on the Skeena River system and watched the Canada/Russia hockey series at night. It was special.”
The 57-year-old CA comes by his passion and vocation honestly: he’s the grandson of the legendary Len Thompson,
founder of Len Thompson Lures of Alberta. “He left the affinity deep within me,” says Pallister, who wrote in his
high-school yearbook that his goal in life “was to make thousands and thousands of fish hooks.” While articling,
he spent two years working the night shift at his grandfather’s firm, learning the skilful art of lure making. Still,
he didn’t go into the family business, largely because his younger brother had already joined the firm full time.
After 19 years in public practice, he took the bait when a colleague told him about the opportunity to purchase
Gibbs in 1989. He was intrigued by the company’s history — it is
Résumé
Canada’s oldest manufacturer of tackle, founded by outdoorsman
Rufus Gibbs in 1908 — and was excited about returning to his
1975
obtains CA designation (Alta.)
family’s professional lineage. The work continues to be a challenge
1976
purchases CA firm Pallister, Cookson,
for the longtime angler. Because catching fish is difficult, he says
Carr and Campbell (Lacombe, Alta.)
a successful lure maker needs to think like a fish. “You want to pres1989
buys Gibbs/Nortac Industries Ltd.
ent a lure to a fish like you would dinner to a human — if it looks
2008
celebrates Gibbs’ centenary
appealing, you are at least going to taste it.”
John Shoesmith

Perry Zavitz/KlixPix

Big fish: Lure maker Syd Pallister owns and runs Canada’s
largest and oldest manufacturer of fishing tackle
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Findings
C-Suite CA s continue
to deliver returns

E

ach year, the CICA checks to see how many
CAs occupy top positions at companies in the
Globe and Mail’s Report on Business 1000. As
usual, this year’s study shows CAs not only hold
many of these top jobs (chair, CEO, president,
CFO, chief operating officer and corporate secretary), but also bring significant advantages
to their employers.
ROB 1000 companies with a CA at the helm
(generally CEO or president) performed better on
several key financial measures including return
on equity, return on capital and return on assets.
These findings are not a fluke — they have been
consistent since the study’s inception in 1998. Companies with
top financial officers who are CAs also outperformed businesses
with non-CA CFOs.
Not surprisingly, the executive position CAs are most likely to
hold is that of CFO. Nearly six in 10 (58.7%) CFOs in the 2008 ROB
1000 are CAs. This compares with 59.6 last year, 57.9% in 2006, 58.1
in 2005, 56.8% in 2004, 55.1% in 2003, 54.5% in 2002 and 53% in

Q
+

A

ASK

AN

2001. Although the percentage of CFO CAs dropped slightly in
2008 from 2007, it remains higher than in prior years.
Other C-suite positions frequently held by CAs include
chair (11.1%), CEO (9.9%), president (9.2%), secretary (15.3%)
and chief operating officer (7.5%).
John Tabone is CICA’s manager of member value and research services

EXPERT

when in the hiring process is it appropriate to ask about pay/benefits?
General salary requirements should be discussed
early on — during the first or second interview —
to avoid surprises later. Be prepared to hear a
broad range, as employers want to get a sense of
your qualifications and fit for the position before
extending a formal offer. Be sure to highlight your
accomplishments and the value you can bring
to the employer before discussing compensation,
and watch out for the following pitfalls:
Going in unprepared. Base your request on strong
supporting evidence, which you can get from
professional journals and industry publications,
searching online salary sources and consulting
with members of your professional network.
Over- or under-estimating your leverage. Consider
the job market as well as your expertise and experience when establishing a desired salary range.

Being inflexible. While there may be some aspects
of an offer you’ll be unwilling to negotiate,
be prepared to compromise on less critical items.
Fixating on base salary. Look at the total
compensation, including nonmonetary but highly
desirable components such as healthcare benefits,
paid time off and flexible scheduling.
Failing to get it in writing. Once you’ve agreed on
terms, ask the employer to draw up a letter of
agreement that outlines the specifics of the offer,
such as the position’s key responsibilities, salary
and any special arrangements that resulted
from the negotiations.
Max Messmer is chairman of Accountemps
(www.accountemps.com) and author of Job Hunting
For Dummies (John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)
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Smiling through the apocalypse

Where some businesses
see trouble, others see opportunity. These slump-time successes
prove that innovation can sometimes triumph over economic turmoil

4 Months after the Great Crash of 1929 that

founded the innovative GE Credit Corp.
to help consumers buy GE appliances.

Henry Luce launched Fortune magazine. Priced
at an expensive $1 per issue, circulation had
skyrocketed to 460,000 by 1937.

15

Percentage decline in sales DuPont
experienced in 1930, the year it boosted R&D
spending to develop neoprene — the world’s
first synthetic rubber.

9 Billions of US dollars lopped off the market value of computer company Apple Inc. in
the early 2000s recession. Apple responded by
launching the iPod and opening retail stores.
“The way we’re going to survive,” said Apple
CEO Steve Jobs, “is to innovate our way out
of this.”

256

14 Percentage increase in sales Gillette enjoyed during the

Percentage increase in sales in the
years following the 1981-’82 recession by
businesses that maintained or increased
their advertising spending compared with
those that cut back, according to a survey of 600 firms by McGrawHill Research.

recession-ravaged year of 1990. Revenue was boosted by the
launch of the firm’s Sensor line of men’s razors.

1818 Year clothier Brooks Brothers was launched after pur-

15 Estimated percentage of US consumer purchases financed by

chasing surplus wool naval coats sold by the Royal Navy at auction in New York City to raise funds following the British depression of 1815-’16.
Steve Brearton

credit during the later stages of the 1920s. In 1932, General Electric

Going Concern
PHOTO

jack grant, CA
PRESIDENT & CFO
ANIMAL DETERRENT SYSTEMS

to public health is raising the profile of pest-control
solutions like the M.Not. Its advantage over competitors
is in being an all-in-one product that electrocutes the
rodent and kills it instantly — a more humane solution

COMPANY PROFILE: Calgary-based

than poison or snap traps — disinfects it and then plants

Animal Deterrent Systems (ADS) has

it in a plastic bag so that no one ever has to handle it

literally built a better mousetrap. Called

directly. One device, which can be used repeatedly and

M.Not, the $1,500 electronic device is targeted to

is expected to last up to five years, can hold at least

the industrial and commercial sectors and is currently

six mice at a time.

being tested with several public- and private-sector
clients. ADS was incorporated in 2004 and spent the initial

COOL PROJECTS: A second-generation “wireless”

years in research and development, crediting Canada

M.Not mousetrap, still in the research phase, will send

Revenue Agency’s Scientific Research and Experimental

messages to customers remotely when a unit is activated

Development Tax Incentive Program as an important

so they know exactly which units need servicing.

element in getting its product off the ground. Now at its
pivotal point of going commercial, ADS has three employees

IN HIS OWN WORDS: “For me this is an exciting opportunity

and three consultants and is seeking a distributor.

to see an inventor’s idea come to fruition and become a
commercial success. This is an industry that is crying out

HOT FACTOR: Increasing media attention around

for a total solution and we haven’t seen anything like [our

commercial mouse infestations and the subsequent threat

product] in North America yet.”

SETH

Rosalind Stefanac
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Bits & Bites

Insight, news + reports at a glance

Provincial tax preferences
Alberta is the best place in Canada — and Quebec and Ontario are the
worst — for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) to do business, finds
a Canadian Federation of Independent Business (CFIB) study.
The study gauges the competitiveness of provincial tax systems through
the lens of the SME owner by examining 65 indicators in five major areas
of tax policy: premiums and payroll taxes; corporate income taxes; property
and capital taxes; personal income taxes; and sales and excise taxes. High-

Anti-retail therapy

scoring provinces are those that levy low rates of tax and apply broad-based
incentives that are simple and accessible to as many taxpayers as possible.
“It is alarming that the two biggest provinces, which make up 60% of
the total economy, are the weakest links in the provincial tax chain,” says
Catherine Swift, CFIB president. “It is no secret that a province’s tax system
can help attract or repel investment, and these provinces in particular are
doing a poor job of nurturing small-business growth.”

If you or your client recently went on
a spender bender, there’s a new website
that may help curb the urge to splurge.
Spendster.org, created by the
US National Endowment for Financial
Education, gives shopaholics a forum
to confess their ill-advised purchases
and, better yet, tells them what they
could have saved if that money was put
to more productive use.
Users can enter the amount of
money they spent on “junk” in the
site’s calculator to find out the total
cost after paying minimum credit-card
payments for a year at an annual
percentage rate of 9%; the value of
that money if they had used it to buy
Google stock when it went public in
2004; and the amount they could have
saved if they had put their cash in

Source: CFIB, 2009

a high-interest savings account for 40

SETH

years. If only.

BACKHANDED BONUS

CRA COMPLIANCE

HOCK CLOCK

Six in 10 Canadians who work longer
hours without compensation will
find ways to reward themselves, finds
an ADP poll. Those who do not
receive extra time off or pay for extra
work will leave early (53%), work at
a more leisurely pace (27%), take
sick days when they aren’t sick (23%)
or take longer lunches (21%).

Canada Revenue Agency is working
hard to ensure the government
receives all the taxes it deserves.
In 2007-2008, the CRA conducted
more than 350,000 audit and review
actions, identified $7.8 billion in
noncompliance for business and
recovered $11.9 billion through
collections activities.

On the flip side, it’s a little mindnumbing to watch the numbers fly
by on debtclock.ca — the Canadian
Taxpayers Federation’s rolling tally
of Canada’s federal debt. According
to the site, the debt is now growing
at $1,068.62 per second, or more
than $92 million a day, and will hit
$492 billion within a year.
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PROPERTY TAX
VALUATION
IFRS WE’RE THERE
CONSULTING
ADVISORY

When you need the most sophisticated advice regarding your
real estate holdings for the transition to IFRS, only one consultancy
has the technical expertise and unrivalled global platform to respond.

With valuation professionals in 90 offices across the globe, including
Montreal, Ottawa, Toronto, London, Calgary, Edmonton and Vancouver,
Cushman & Wakefield LePage’s Valuation & Advisory group has
Regional, National and Global insight.

Our clients and professionals benefit from access to the latest
technology and resources, enabling us to deliver in-depth appraisals
and valuations with insightful market commentary on time and within
budget. We’re There.
Sheila Botting
Senior Managing Director Capital Markets
Sheila.Botting@ca.cushwake.com

www.cushmanwakefield.com/valuation

Val u e added

Business Trends worth watching

Comparing the world’s R&D tax credits

C

anada still has the world’s best R&D tax credit
scheme, especially for small and medium-sized

companies. But other countries, notably the UK,
the Netherlands and France, are not far behind;

Despite these recent changes in France, Canada still
holds the edge as the most desirable location with respect
to R&D credits, because of the following key points.
• It has the best overall treatment of domestic-owned small
private corporations, which are often the most vigorous
technology innovators.
• Canada’s benefits are permanent and statutory, which
means companies can count on funding for eligible projects over several years. Complex undertakings may take
more than one year to complete. Unfortunately, some of
CRA’s current administrative policies on scientific research
and experimental development eligibility are working
to undermine this strength.
• It uses an actual benefit mechanism as compared to the
US and Ireland, where the benefit is calculated on the
change in spending from one year to the next.
• Most Canadian provinces offer their own credits, which
supplement the federal benefit. While there are considerable differences in the magnitude of these benefits (from

recent legislative changes have put France in the lead,
at least where larger public companies are concerned.
These are just some of the key findings from the most
recent edition of Overview of Research & Development Tax
Incentives in Selected Global Knowledge Economies, published by Scitax Advisory Partners LLP, a Toronto-based
consulting firm specializing in government taxation
of science and technology companies.
“Getting a useful picture of R&D tax incentives
around the world is more difficult than it might seem,”
says Scitax director David Hearn. “While there is a lot of
data available, much of it is out of date and tends to be
presented for economists rather than business owners.
Furthermore, the past two years
have seen a proliferation of counIn Canada, at least at the federal level, all types of
tries offering new R&D incentives
and some significant increases in
current and capital R&D expenditures are covered
the existing benefit rates.”
The study, which is published in
the form of a tabular report, covers R&D incentives in
10% to 37.5%), they are all linked so eligibility at the federal
Australia, Ireland, Canada, the Netherlands, Spain, New
level automatically triggers provincial eligibility. Also,
Zealand, the UK, the US, France, Austria, Mexico, South
because of the level of federal and provincial harmonizaAfrica and Germany.
tion, the refund cheques from both levels of government
For each country, the report shows whether the benefit
arrive at approximately the same time. In the US, one of the
mechanism is incremental or actual, a super-deduction
few countries that also features both state and federal level
or input tax credit, and whether a cash refund is offered.
credits, the state benefits are not only poorly coordinated
It also lists what R&D expenditures are eligible.
with the federal system but are often calculated using a
The Scitax investigators involved in the study note that
different basis. (Moreover, the US recently restored its fedthese benefits have become moving targets. Over the past
eral R&D credit, which had been inconsistently available
two years, foreign governments have been fine-tuning
since 2005, and not available at all in 2007 or 2008.)
their R&D benefits in an effort to attract the high-quality
• In Canada, at least at the federal level, all types of current
jobs that arise when a new scientific research centre opens.
and capital R&D expenditures are covered. This includes
a generous statutory allowance for overhead. Canadian
For large public corporations, the global R&D tax credit
playing field shifted significantly in December 2008 when
provinces differ somewhat on expenditure coverage, most
France enacted legislation that allows companies to obtain
notably contract payments and equipment. The one item
missing from Canada’s list of eligible expenditures is
an immediate cash refund for any investment tax credits
the cost of acquiring and securing intellectual property.
that remain unused from 2005, 2006 and 2007, plus the estimated amount that will be unused in 2008. This change —
France, Ireland and Mexico all offer some form of coverage
together with benefit rates ranging from 30% to 50% of the
for these types of expenditures.
This is a summary. For an expanded version in which
actual expenditures up to €100 million — makes France
highly attractive to cash-starved science and technology
Scitax director David Hearn discusses the findings in more
companies with big-budget R&D operations.
detail, visit www.camagazine.com/R&Dtax.
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ENROLL
TODAY!
2009 testing
window is
Sept. 1–30

PASS THE IQEX EXAM
with Kaplan CPA Success!

Choose your learning option:
OnDemand Online Class
OnDemand
Online Class

Live
Class

CPA SUCCESS

Study anytime, anywhere
24 hours of online instruction
Eliminate travel expenses
Unlimited review of every class

Live Class (beginning in July)
Led by academic and industry experts
Convenient class locations and times
24 hours of live instruction
Interactive question-based sessions

See our website for Live Class locations, dates, and times.
www.kaplanCPAsuccess.com | 888-548-2480
IQEX09502-02/10

Netwa tc h

By Jim Ca rrol l

Your guide to business & accounting on the Internet

Accountancy in the Twitter era

W

e stand at a seminal moment — a crossroads
as it were — between what we might call

the new age of disclosure and the new era of inattention. On the one hand, an enraged citizenry is
seeking scapegoats for everything that has gone wrong
with the global economy. (News blog The Huffington Post
summed it up pretty well with a headline commenting
on a meeting between President Barack Obama and various bank CEOs: “My Administration is the Only Thing
Between You and the Pitchforks.”)
The people are mad as hell, and understandably so. As
part of the process of reconciliation, we will see all kinds
of new rules and regulations within the financial sector
and beyond, including most of the business world. Let
there be no doubt, in the year to come we will witness
a new, onerous set of regulations surrounding financial
disclosure — let’s call it SOX 2.0. There are going to be
new forms of regulation, more financial disclosure and
far more detailed reporting requirements.
On the other hand, while we ponder an emerging need
for more detailed disclosure, media reports seem to indicate
that the general populace is rushing off to Twitter-ize itself.
Twitter, of course, is the latest rage online — in the past
few months, it has become the most popular online social
networking service next to Facebook and MySpace. In a
nutshell, you post to Twitter short messages of up to 140
characters about what you are doing at any point in time,
and anyone can choose to “follow” or read your posts. The
result is an entirely new form of online interaction that
can’t really be described — you’ve got to experience it.
It’s growing fast: a search of headlines in a popular
database reveals a several-thousand-percent increase of
references to Twitter in blogs, news stories and television
shows. Even late-night talk-show host Jay Leno is talking
about Twitter.
So here’s the thing: to satisfy the demands of angry
investors, the typical 10Q and SEDAR filings will have to
quadruple in size, if not more. Pretty soon, a typical public
company will need to file several thousand pages of disclosure documents to keep up with regulations. Financial

statement footnotes will become complicated enough to
deserve their own dead tree. An army of accountants will
find itself dedicated to the cause of digging deeper with
every single sentence.
At the same time, the audience for whom these lengthy
documents are targeted is concentrating on writing
140-character texts. When they send a tweet (as a post in
Twitter-land is known), they will also find tweets from
those who follow them. In the course of a day, someone
might post a dozen tweets; they will find hundreds of similar 140-character pearls of wisdom from their followers.
Not only that, but people are starting to add to their
Twitter posts 12-second video clips on 12seconds.tv. In
other words, short bursts of information, plus video! A
day on Twitter is like a day of hyperactivity, with rapidfire communication, some of it nonsensical and other
parts of it brilliant — all happening at a scattershot and
furious pace.
So, the big question is, what is the relevancy of accountancy in the Twitter era? Since no one seems to be asking
the question, I thought I would. Might you soon find that
verbosity is not the path to take with SOX 2.0? Might you
instead find yourself one day writing a financial disclosure that goes like this: Qlfd opn’n. Gng Cncrn vr m2m vln
on unreal(dude!)ized rvnu.
If you understand that, then your brain synapses
have shrunk enough to fit the speed of information in
the modern age.
Jim Carroll, FCA, is a well-known speaker, author
and columnist. Reach him at jcarroll@jimcarroll.com
or log on to his website at www.jimcarroll.com

The fast and the furious
12seconds http://12seconds.tv
Jim Carroll on Twitter http://twitter.com/
jimcarroll
The Huffington Post www.huffingtonpost.com

14 CA magazine June/July 2009

09junNetwatch.indd 1

5/19/2009 12:31:01 PM

Learn more about Houlihan’s Valuation Services
and receive the latest copy of our Complex Securities
study at: www.houlihansmith.com/fair-value/
or contact Senior Managing Director,
Karl D’Cunha, CA at 416.642.8892
e-mail: kdcunha@houlihansmith.com

Fair Value
Experts
Best Practices. Best Execution.

Houlihan Smith & Company, (“Houlihan”) is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) and registered as a licensed broker-dealer and offers investment
banking, valuation and investment advisory services in the USA and around the world.
No product or service will be offered where unlawful under applicable law.

work in process

By Michael Burns

USING TECHNOLOGY TO IMPROVE THE WAY YOU DO BUSINESS

A problem becomes an opportunity

I

am thankfully back after recovering from an
illness that kept me on the sidelines for a few

months. I had lots of time to contemplate the
universe, and you would think I’d be able to share

fees that were calculated on the original licence fee. But
be careful if you choose the replacement strategy, because
the internal costs to implement a new system can be
onerous too.
A business-case approach is recommended to determine whether to make the information technology investment. Some benefits will be tangible — e.g., saving money
through increased efficiencies. But what about intangible
benefits such as improved customer service or decision
making? These should be converted into tangibles to
make the business case. Improved customer service can
be a tangible benefit if it will lead to higher customer
retention or more customers. Improved decision making
can also be turned into a tangible benefit if you calculate the cost of providing the information required by

great words of wisdom. Alas, I can’t tell you anything
that you don’t already know, such as being thankful for
health, family and friends. Unfortunately, most of us are
so caught up in day-to-day living that we don’t show our
appreciation or spend much time with the people we care
about. Most of us get angry over small things and miss
the big picture. Don’t wait for a serious health problem
to arise before you start thinking about spending quality
time with family and good friends.
And now back to business
(or lack of it). Many organizaThere are ethical reasons for keeping employees in
tions have been forced to lay off
employees and cancel or posttough times, but there are also business reasons
pone new projects. Companies
that are not facing collapse are
just hunkering down and waiting out the storm.
management using the existing system. But don’t make
There are obvious ethical reasons for keeping employup any numbers. They need to be substantiated based
on discussions with trusted people such as customers
ees in tough times, but there are also excellent business
or senior managers.
reasons. What better time to train employees than when
A business case should include five years’ worth of
they have some extra time? They will learn new skills
costs and benefits with calculations for net present valand forever be motivated to work that much harder for
ue, return on investment, payback and internal rate of
their employer.
Does it make sense to invest in IT projects during
return. These calculations are the easy part. It should not
tough times? Theoretically, a slowdown is the ideal time
be a problem to get reasonable figures on cost directly
from vendors. Include licence, services, maintenance,
to retool. Employees can devote their spare time to improving business processes, and vendors will be more receptive
IT infrastructure changes and internal costs. It is advisto discounting, especially when they can look forward to
able that an accountant review and approve the business case. He or she will not only see the holes in the
10-plus years of maintenance, which runs on average 18%
to 20% of list price.
calculations but will insist that each number be backed
Companies won’t want to invest in technology if they
up by evidence.
have just been forced to lay off part of their workforce.
But some will want to scale back their ongoing informaMichael Burns, MBA, CA IT, is president of 180 Systems
(www.180systems.com), which provides independent
tion technology costs. They might be able to renegoticonsulting services, including business process review,
ate terms with their vendor. They might also choose to
system selection and IT audit. Contact 416-485-2200;
replace a system that has become a drain on the budget
because of heavy upgrade fees or annual maintenance
mburns@180systems.com

.

16 CA magazine June/July 2009

09junProcess.indd 2

5/26/2009 2:53:23 PM

lannick exhaustive outlines

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

ca -qk5 .eps

5/1/2009

10:21:27 AM

News from the profession
A summ ary of current CICA projects and initiatives

Fair values: when the engine overheats,
don’t blame the oil light

W

hen your engine overheats, do you blame the
oil light? That’s the argument that continues

to place responsibility for the current financial
crisis on fair value accounting standards. Fair value

to report different cost amounts if the assets were acquired
at different times. Adding costs from different acquisition
dates produces totals akin to adding apples and oranges —
there is no common basis for the items combined to make
up a meaningful total.
Fair value relies on the capital markets to play their primary function and establish price in a fair and objective fashion. Fair value measures achieve this by portraying what is
actually happening. In contrast, reporting an averaged or
smoothed measurement when the underlying economics
are highly volatile would be misleading.
In many circumstances, particularly regarding financial
instruments, fair value accounting is the best solution. It can

accounting, also referred to as mark-to-market accounting,
requires companies to value assets as if they were to be sold
by the owner in the open market. In the current economic
climate, for a majority of companies the value of their assets
is low or underwater.
The argument against fair value accounting goes like this:
the markets are not always rational or perfect and exposing
a corporation’s books to the
roller-coaster ups and downs
Investors making informed decisions need unbiased,
doesn’t capture a true picture
of the value of all types of asup-to-date information, in particular about the
sets. The unusual spikes or
troughs in market prices are
amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows
unrepresentative of the true
underlying value. Many bankers argue that some assets, such as mortgages, are not held
certainly be made better with additional guidance as to how
for the purpose of reselling and that fair value accounting
to determine true fair value, especially in inactive markets.
rules distort the value of these assets in a negative way. They
This guidance is being developed consistently and globally
say assets should be valued based on how they perform their
by bodies such as the International Accounting Standards
intended function, not on the price they would sell for at a
Board (IASB), the Financial Accounting Standards Board,
particular moment.
the US Securities and Exchange Commission and Canada’s
Accounting Standards Board (AcSB).
What’s at risk is the very thing that an oil light provides: a
glimpse into the thrumming machinery under the hood. Fair
In spite of fair value’s relevance, there are genuine practical
value is the best measure that allows investors and other marconcerns about how to measure fair value, particularly when
ket stakeholders to clearly understand the current health of a
an active market does not exist or significant market disrupcompany and make decisions based on that understanding.
tions occur. In such cases, valuation techniques must be used.
Investors making informed decisions need unbiased, up-toValuation techniques that reasonably reflect market-pricing
methods continue to improve. However, more guidance is
date information, in particular about the amount, timing and
uncertainty of future cash flows. Fair value is unaffected by
urgently needed on how to make reasonable estimates of fair
when or how an asset was acquired, by who holds the asset or
value on a cost-effective basis when no active market exists.
Accounting standards-setters have developed some such
by the intended future use of the asset. It is not entity-specific
guidance, and more is to come. Also, the AcSB has recently
and is not dependent on management’s intentions. Fair valput in place enhanced disclosure requirements to explain
ues are comparable at any measurement date and they can be
the nature of the valuation techniques that have been used.
added together to produce a meaningful total.
These new requirements mirror those recently put in place
In contrast, cost-based measures hamper the ability to
by the IASB.
compare because they make similar items look different
Financial reporting is designed to assist investors and
and different items look alike. For example, Company A and
Company B could hold identical assets, yet they are likely
creditors in making decisions. There is growing evidence
18 CA magazine June/July 2009
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J Embree

that fair value provides investors with the most relevant information. For years, financial analysts have advocated the merits of fair
value, through the Association for Investment Management and
Research, and its successor body, the CFA Institute.
Fair value results in reporting of gains and losses when economic conditions change. This reduces the ability of management
to manage the bottom line by controlling which assets are sold
and in what accounting period. In contrast, a historical cost-based
measure ignores the effects of decisions to hold an asset because

it reflects the effects of changes in fair value only when assets are
sold. Fair value reflects the highest and best use of an asset.
Capital markets need transparent, up-to-date reporting of
underlying economic circumstances so investors and creditors
can make informed decisions. The economy may have overheated
and some disquieting sounds are coming from under the hood,
but it would be deeply flawed logic to blame the oil light.
Paul Cherry, past chair, AcSB, and Ian Hague, principal, AcSB

CAs in the news
Unlike advertising, news coverage cannot be bought. This gives
earned media coverage a degree of integrity and believability
that can create enormous value for any organization that enjoys
positive media attention. To achieve a similar measure of public
exposure through paid advertising would demand substantial
spending and still may not be as credible.
CICA is proud of the positive media attention it earns and
wants to share this success with members. Because it wants
to make it easy for journalists to obtain information on the
CA profession, CICA has restructured the Media Centre on its
website (www.cica.ca/mediacentre). The Media Centre is a
one-stop location for journalists seeking information or comment from the CA profession. It lists CICA contact information and provides a lengthy list of resources, including news
releases, facts on the profession and a link to our Decisions
Matter ad campaign.
There is also a greater effort to incorporate video and
audio features into the Media Centre. For example, the link
to the mentoring project run in conjunction with the Martin
Aboriginal Initiative features the original news release about
encouraging aboriginal youth to pursue accounting careers.
In addition, the special landing page offers a photo gallery,
video clips and video of the entire news conference announcing the initiative.
The news conference was held at the CICA in November

2008 with former prime minister Paul Martin among the participants. The joint project generated positive coverage with
stories in both the print and broadcast media (The Globe and
Mail, Brantford Expositor, CBC radio and Canada AM). In fact,
the Expositor ran a very positive editorial supporting the initiative: “While increasing the number of aboriginal accountants
in Canada might not seem like a pressing issue, the more economic opportunities First Nations people have, the better their
chance to break the cycle of poverty. That’s why we applaud
the efforts of former prime minister Paul Martin to head up
a pilot project that will pair promising aboriginal high-school
students with accountants as mentors.”
The mentoring project continues to attract positive coverage. This year’s federal budget provided an excellent springboard for outstanding media penetration. Third-party media
analysis indicated that CICA federal budget commentary in
January reached a cumulative audience of more than 2.9 million (print and electronic media) and CICA commentary captured an increased share of budget media coverage over the
previous year.
Positive media coverage is essential to reinforcing the CA
profession’s position as the leading Canadian voice on accounting issues. The refurbished Media Centre now provides reporters with a valuable information source when working on stories
impacting the CA profession.

MAPP survey provides firms with benchmark compensation data
All CA firms are encouraged to take part in the latest Managing
a Public Practice (MAPP) survey, conducted by the CICA and the
provincial institutes/ordre. Part 1 of the survey will be launched
mid-June and will focus on billing rates, compensation and
benefits. The survey is part of a broader three-part survey. Firms
that completed Part 2 received a report in January covering firm
revenues, expenses, billing practices and productivity. In April,
firms completing Part 3 received a report on technology used
by CA firms, including hardware, software and security.
MAPP survey results are not available to nonparticipants.

Only partners and sole practitioners of CA firms that participate in the survey gain access to this valuable information.
Invitations to take part in MAPP surveys are sent by e-mail
to CA firm partners and sole practitioners from our research
provider, iTracks. MAPP surveys are hosted on a secure site and
all information entered is kept strictly confidential. Results are
reported in aggregate form only.
For more information regarding the MAPP survey, or if you
did not receive your invitation, please contact MAPPSurvey@
icao.on.ca.
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SEAMLESS
It’s how your transition to IFRS should be.

The date to change over to International Financial Reporting Standards
is fast approaching and the time to prepare is now. We’re here to help.
We understand the complexity of the transition and offer the information, tools
and training you need to successfully manage the change to IFRS. So when
2011 rolls around, your transition will be seamless.

www.cica.ca/IFRS
Your trusted source for everything IFRS.

IIN delivers value
during these
challenging times

In today’s economic climate,
PRACTITIONER’S INCOME
TAX ACT 2009, 35TH EDITION
DAVID M. SHERMAN, LL.B., LL.M.

NEW EDITION

Practitioner’s Income Tax Act is the
market leading Income Tax Act with a solid
foundation of information. It offers expert
insights, comprehensive annotations, and
up-to-date amendments – all in a portable,
search-easy, single-volume format.
Choose the Practitioner’s Income Tax Act,
35th Edition for
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ORDER # 981983-10820 $100
Softcover March 2009
978-0-7798-1983-6
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AVAILABLE FOR A 30-DAY, RISK-FREE EXAMINATION
Order Online at www.carswell.com/email
Call Toll-Free: 1-800-387-5164 In Toronto: 416-609-3800
Shipping and handling are extra. Price subject to change without
notice and subject to applicable taxes.
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BONUS!
Canada Tax Service Quick Reference Guide is
now included free with Practitioner’s Income
Tax Act, 35th Edition6OJRVFUP$BSTXFMM 
this handy everyday reference tool contains
pertinent tax rates and facts.

accounting institutes worldwide
are facing the same challenge — how
to deliver more with less. The 16
member institutes of the International
Innovation Network (IIN) are demonstrating that by sharing ideas and
collaborating on the development of
products and services, it is possible
to gain efficiencies and reduce costs
while benefiting the accounting
profession around the world.
Earlier this year, Cairine Wilson,
CICA vice-president, Member Services,
became the new chair of the IIN.
Wilson is making it her priority to build
on the momentum that exists in the
organization and to reinforce the many
benefits member institutes receive for
their support and participation.
“Since we established the IIN seven
years ago, I have been continually
impressed with its ability to grow and
evolve in response to the changing needs
and priorities of our members,” she says.
“This organization has clearly become
a major source of rigorous global
knowledge sharing and networking.”
One of IIN’s areas of focus is conducting collaborative research. The network
has carried out surveys of practices,
business members and younger members, collecting data that provides
valuable insights to help effectively
target products and services.
“Those of us from the many different
countries involved in this research
were surprised at the number of similar
challenges faced by our institutes.
This commonality of issues underscores
the tremendous benefits of information
sharing of all kinds and we can build
on each others’ ideas,” Wilson says.
The CICA is a founding member
of this global collaborative forum,
which has provided thought leadership
since 2002.
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Helping you plan a seamless transition to IFRS
The CICA

is making three new resources available to
help publicly accountable enterprises prepare for the adoption
of international financial reporting standards (IFRS) on January
1, 2011.
A publication entitled 2009 Financial Reporting in Canada
under IFRS examines and explains IFRS requirements and illustrates their application. It will help preparers of financial statements, practitioners and students obtain a better understanding
of IFRS (see “Seven key differences,” page 36).
The CICA and Deloitte have released a timely publication to
help entities that are currently determining how best to provide
IFRS-related disclosures in management’s discussion and analysis.
IFRS-Related Disclosures in December 31, 2008 MD&A of Canadian
Companies sets out examples of how companies are meeting the
Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) disclosure expectations
for the years preceding the transition to IFRS. The CSA requires
each entity affected by the adoption of IFRSs to discuss the status
of the key elements and timing of its transition plan no later than
in its annual MD&A for the year beginning three years before
its changeover date. Issuers will be expected to provide more

detail about the impact of IFRS as they move closer to transition.
For the most part this will be narrative information, but the
CSA also envisages that issuers will become progressively better able to provide quantified information about the impact of
IFRS on their financial statements. IFRS-Related Disclosures
in December 31, 2008 MD&A of Canadian Companies provides
a sampling of related disclosures from 23 firms across a range
of industry sectors. The resource is available in the IFRS Transition Resources section of the CICA’s designated IFRS website,
www.cica.ca/IFRS. This supplements October 2008 guidance,
Pre-2011 Communications about IFRS Conversion.
The 2009 edition of The CICA’s Guide to IFRS in Canada is now
available. It includes a comparison of Canadian standards to the
related IFRS (as at July 31, 2008) prepared by the AcSB. The comparison highlights key differences and notes any work in process
that may affect the standard in the future. The guide is useful
for those in the initial stages of transition planning or those
requiring a general understanding of the new standards. It is
available for free download at www.cica.ca/ifrsguide (English) and
www.icca.ca/guideIFRS (French).

“In accounting, the
security of client
information is crucial.
Shred-it removes
the worry.”

Destroying high volumes of
client documents in-house can be
inefficient, costly and not 100%
secure.
Shred-it’s document destruction
services can help you meet your
compliance obligations with
reliable, on-time service.
Help prevent identity theft and
security breaches.
And safeguard your clients’
privacy so you can focus on what’s
really important. Growing your
business.
888 79-Shred

shredit.com

Making sure it’s secure.
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Getting the right financing for
your business doesn’t have
to be a bumpy road.

A roadmap to business financing success, The Financing Toolkit for Small & Medium Businesses
is your direct route to the many financing alternatives, services and solutions available to businesses
today including: where to go for financing, how to structure a deal and how to avoid the pitfalls.
The Toolkit provides straightforward information on comprehensive financing
structures, drafting a business plan, and case studies based on real-world
experiences. The accompanying CD includes checklists and worksheets
to help business owners analyze their financing needs and access the
formal financing marketplace.

Sponsored by the Business
Development Bank of Canada

To order, visit knotia.ca/store/financing or call
416-977-0748 (Toronto) or 1-800-268-3793 (Toll Free)

Standards digest

Want to be kept informed? Log on to www.cica.ca/subscribe

RECENTLY ISSUED PRONOUNCEMENTS
CICA Handbook – Accounting

Date issued†

Accounting Changes, Section 1506 (revised)

June 2009

Financial Instruments amendments to:
— Section 3855 regarding effective interest rate and
embedded derivatives
— Section 3861 regarding application
— Section 3862 regarding disclosure requirements

June 2009

CICA Public Sector Accounting Handbook

Transitional provisions amendment to
Government Reporting Entity, PS 1300

March 2009

Public Sector Statements of Recommended Practice

Indicators of Financial Condition, SORP-4

May 2009

RECENTLY ISSUED DOCUMENTS FOR COMMENT (to June 30, 2009)
Accounting

Comment deadline

EDI Adopting IFRS in Canada, II

May 15, 2009

EDI Derecognition

August 31, 2009

EDI Embedded Derivatives on Reclassification of
Financial Instruments

May 25, 2009

EDI Fair Value Measurement

September 30, 2009

ITC Financial Reporting by Not-for-Profit Organizations*

June 30, 2009

ED

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
for Private Enterprises

July 31, 2009

ED

Impairment of Financial Assets

June 30, 2009

EDI Income Tax

ED

July 31, 2009

Auditing and Assurance
Auditor’s Consent to the Use of the Auditor’s Report
in Connection with Designated Documents

June 30, 2009

Public Sector
ITC Financial Reporting by Not-for-Profit Organizations*

June 30, 2009

rED Government Transfers

September 15, 2009

SOP Liability for Remediation and Mitigation of Contaminated Sites

May 29, 2009

rED Tax Revenues

June 30, 2009

Legend
ED – Exposure Draft
DS – Draft SORP

EDI – ED based on IFRSs
ITC – Invitation to Comment

rED – Re-exposure Draft
SOP – Statement of Principles

†
Refer to each Handbook pronouncement for the effective date and transitional provisions.
* Jointly issued by the Accounting Standards Board and the Public Sector Accounting Board
The information published above reflects best estimates at press time. Please visit our website
for the most recent information.
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CFO

Gets high marks for managing growth and saving money

H

by Paul Brent

ow do you manage an expansion in the current
economic climate without emptying your com-

pany’s coffers? David Garofalo knows how. The chartered accountant was named Canada’s CFO of the
Year for successfully steering his company through a rapid
but prudent expansion. The senior vice-president of finance
and CFO of Agnico-Eagle Mines Ltd. orchestrated the raising of US$1 billion in capital through equity issues and debt
financings, money that is now being used to fund an ambitious expansion of its operations.
Garofalo attributes his selection as the country’s top CFO
to his firm’s success in securing and directing a huge pool of
capital into new projects. “We undertook a massive expansion
program,” he says of Agnico-Eagle’s US$2-billion expansion
program. “We started in 2005 to build new mines and go from
one to six mines and we are near the finish line now.”
As a result of its expansion, Agnico-Eagle is poised to
grow its revenue and head count each by about five-fold,
says Garofalo. “This is against an economy that is shrinking,
so we feel that we are swimming upstream in a way.” The
Toronto-based gold and base metals miner also finds itself
in the enviable position of not having to raise further capital
for the near future as its portfolio of new mines will soon be
producing revenue of about US$600 million that can in turn
be used to expand the production at existing mines.
Garofalo received high marks from the award’s judging
panel for managing the expansion and retaining US$100
million in cash and US$345 million in available credit lines
in Agnico-Eagle’s coffers at the end of 2008.
“CFOs who have taken responsibility to ensure that the
capital structure of their organization is robust position their
companies to take advantage of opportunities even in a downturn like we are going through now,” says Bruce Waterman,
senior vice-president of finance and CFO of agricultural firm
Agrium Inc., last year’s winner of the award and a member
of this year’s selection panel. While boom times can allow
companies to paper over flawed capital structures, it is during

David Garofalo, CFO of Agnico-Eagle Mines Ltd.

down markets that financial officers show their true mettle,
he adds. “That is when a CFO who has taken a long-term view
and maintained a strong capital structure really shines. I
think David is shining right now because of that.”
Agnico-Eagle spent about US$900 million on its mining
operations last year and was able to finance that by savvy
deals and some fortunate timing. The company arranged a
US$600-million credit facility before the worst of the credit
crisis hit and then managed to raise about US$280 million
through a private placement in November 2008 that made
the Canada Pension Plan one of its largest shareholders. “It
took the constraints off the stock,” Garofalo says. “The stock
has more or less doubled since we did that equity issuance
because it provided funding certainty for a very aggressive
growth program.”
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Garofalo, 43, says he is proudest of his longevity in the mining business: his 11 years helming Agnico-Eagle’s finances distinguish him as one of the longest-serving CFOs in the mining
business. He began his mining career with an eight-year stint at
Inmet Mining Corp., rising to the post of treasurer. He qualified
for his CA designation while he was with Deloitte & Touche in
the late 1980s. “Someone told me the other day that the average
tenure of a CFO today in North America is 30 months,” he says.
“It’s not a role that is conducive to longevity necessarily, but
fortunately I had found the right culture and everybody here
has long tenure. We don’t chew people up here.”
Devoting nearly two decades to just two companies also means
he has had a pivotal role in the creation of major mining projects
around the globe. “I have been involved in the construction of a lot
of mines,” he says. “Over that period I have helped finance eight
or 10 new mines in various parts of the world and that has created
a lot of employment and wealth in a lot of communities.”
Garofalo is also a high-powered number cruncher, serving
on his company’s strategy team and on the board of AgnicoEagle, a relative rarity for a CFO. “They surprised me with that
position last June — I assume it recognizes my longevity in
the role and I also think it is a retention mechanism. It’s an
honour to be serving on the board,” he says. He also serves as

BECAUSE ENTREPRENEURS
WANT TO CARRY OUT
THEIR PROJECTS.

a director on the board of Stornoway Diamond Corp.
Garofalo was named Canada’s CFO of the Year in a process
that saw him win out in a field studded with impressive candidates. “There were a lot of very good candidates,” says Waterman,
who was impressed by Garofalo’s careful expansion strategy in
the face of soaring commodity prices. “It is very easy when times
are good to lever up the company and take maybe a little more
risk than is prudent, but particularly in a commodity industry,
and of course David is in a commodity industry,” says Waterman.
“You have to take that long-term view and not be overly influenced by all the short-term advice that you get from your
financial advisers.”
The seventh CFO of the Year since the award was created in
2003, Garofalo is the third winner to hold a CA designation. The
others are Waterman and 2006 winner Karen Maidment, chief
financial and administrative officer of BMO Financial Group.
Presented annually by Financial Executives International
Canada, PricewaterhouseCoopers and The Caldwell Partners
International, and cosponsored by the CICA, the CFO of the Year
Award honours and recognizes the quality, insight, direction and
leadership of Canada’s senior financial executives.
Paul Brent is a Toronto-based freelance journalist

The Business Development Bank of Canada
understands your reality. It provides the
necessary support so your business can
grow at the pace of your aspirations – come
rain or shine.
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cover story

Transition to ifrs

Ticktock, time moves inexorably, and we
are rushing headlong to the groundbreaking event.
So, how far are you into preparations for

IFRS?

Conversion
checkup
by Jeff Buckstein

=

January 1, 2011, is a date of great significance for accountants

and publicly accountable enterprises (PAEs) in Canada. Less than two years
away, it is of course the date for the much-anticipated switchover from
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to international
financial reporting standards (IFRS). As this portentous date draws closer,
how far have businesses in Canada travelled on the road to full preparedness
for the change? A mixed picture emerges from the more than 4,000 PAEs
i l l u s t r a t i o n b y pa u l w e a r i n g
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The knowledge gained by previous experience in the EU and Australia

IFRS conversion involves more than
a mere accounting or finance exercise. Thus the vital importance
clearly illustrates that an

of engaging company-wide participation in the conversion to IFRS
in Canada. Most firms are fully immersed in conversion waters,
but the turbulence created by the severe economic squall has
made it a struggle for some to traverse the IFRS deeps.
Karen Higgins, partner and national director of accounting
services with Deloitte & Touche in Toronto, sees three broad groups
of companies when her firm makes IFRS presentations to clients.
There are the “largest reporting issuers who started early, have
the resources and are tracking on plan.” Then there’s a second
group of companies that started with a good plan, but had to
make “rational business decisions about how to allocate scarce
resources. Some of those resources have been reallocated to deal
with the current economic impact on their business, so I think
they are lagging a bit behind.”
The third group is the small and medium-size public companies that “probably never really planned to get started until
2009. I think there is still quite a significant number of companies that have a level of awareness, but probably haven’t actually
developed or executed a conversion plan yet,” says Higgins.
“We know from surveys that while very few people have finished the job, a great many are doing quite well in working toward

the objective, and that’s what we would have expected at this particular point,” says Peter Martin, director of accounting standards
at the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA).
For example, in the Q4 2008 CICA/RBC Business Monitor
study, 81% of respondents who need to convert to IFRS indicated when surveyed in November 2008 that it is very likely they
will be ready on time. Nearly half (44%) reported being in the
process of assessing the potential impact on their organization
and 12% have begun educating staff about the changes involved
in converting to IFRS. Only 4% of respondent firms that need
to convert have completed the process thus far.
“The extent to which training has caught on is very gratifying,” says Paul Cherry, chair of the International Accounting
Standards Board’s Standards Advisory Council and former chair
of the Canadian Accounting Standards Board. “The number of
courses has multiplied. We’ve gone from the high-level overviews and general comparisons to people saying, ‘That’s not
good enough.’ They want in-depth training.”
Huw Thomas, the Toronto-based executive vice-president
of finance and administration and CFO of Canadian Tire

A Short History of the Move to IFRS
Canadian standard-setters began the march
that would eventually lead to the acceptance
of international financial reporting standards (IFRS)
in the mid-1990s — although at first it appeared
that the road away from a unique set of Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
would lead through the US.
As the 21st century dawned, however, Enron
Corp., WorldCom and other high-profile corporate
failures south of the border began to change that
mind-set and caused standard-setters to question
whether US rules-based GAAP was, in fact,
the optimal choice. In contrast, principles-based
international standards promoted by the International Accounting Standards Board, which became
a full-time accounting standards-setting body
in 2001, seemed to be a better fit for principlesbased Canadian standards.
Furthermore, that appeared to be the direction

much of the world was going in. About 7,000 public
companies in the EU adopted IFRS in 2005, as
did additional firms in Australia. More than 100
countries have adopted IFRS, or are in the process
of doing so.
In Canada, the Accounting Standards Board
announced its decision in January 2006 to adopt
a strategic plan and have publicly accountable
enterprises (PAEs) in this country convert to IFRS.
In February 2008, a timetable was confirmed whereby interim and annual statements of Canadian PAEs
relating to fiscal periods that begin on or after
January 1, 2011, must be expressed using IFRS.
“Having the Canadian standard-setter agree to
go to IFRS showed that we are in a leadership role in
North America. It gives us the ability to ensure that
the new international standards take the Canadian
viewpoint on accounting to heart,” says Ron Salole,
vice-president of standards at the CICA.
—JB
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Corp. Ltd., says the company’s IFRS implementation project is tone at the top,” says Eric Bouchard, director of financial reportgenerally going well so far because it decided to start early to ing for Bombardier Inc. in Montreal, which kicked off its IFRS
get on top of it. Canadian Tire, which began planning its IFRS project in Europe during the spring of 2007 and in North America
conversion strategy in late 2007 and executing it in 2008, has six months later. “We went straight to the board of directors
put together a team consisting of accounting experts from with- and audit committee and told them what was required,” says
in the organization, supplemented by chartered accountants Bouchard. They agreed it was a critical, organization-wide projwho have been through the IFRS conversion process overseas. ect and committed to supplying the necessary resources and budIn addition, the company has hired consultants from the major get to execute it. “We got that commitment right from the start,
CA firms to provide assistance with complex issues.
so that’s really helped us.”
At Agrium Inc. in Calgary, senior vice-president of finance
“There’s a lot of theory around what’s going to happen, but actually having had somebody who has been through it, and seen the and CFO Bruce Waterman is presiding over the IFRS convergood and bad and the issues that can come
up, is going to be invaluable,” he says.
The knowledge gained by previous experience in the EU and Australia clearly
illustrates that an IFRS conversion involves more than a mere accounting or finance exercise — thus the importance of
engaging company-wide participation.
The awareness gained includes the
need to obtain the cooperation and assistance of information technology specialists with respect to changes and/or
upgrades necessary to internal systems
and processes that impact financial reporting under IFRS.
An IFRS conversion may also necessitate the involvement of human resources to ensure the project availability of
staff from key areas of the organization
affected by new accounting standards,
as everything such as loan covenants to
banking agreements could be affected.
YOU HAD US AT STOP-LOSS.
Senior management, executives and the
board of directors need to ensure that
IFRS conversion efforts get high priority
You’re looking for a law ﬁrm with the expertise to handle
within the organization.
even the most complex tax issues. We’re looking to work with
“We began education sessions with
advisors who are as meticulous about tax planning as we are. Add
our audit committee and had an in-depth
our
experience in all sectors and related areas of law, and the
education session with them and with
National Tax Group of Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP (FMC) might
the board towards the end of last year,”
says Thomas. “We’re now updating them
just be what you’ve been looking for. With the national strength
every quarter at our regular meetings,
of more than 40 tax lawyers, and over 500 lawyers in six ofﬁces
and we’ll have another in-depth review
across Canada, FMC is your perfect match.
with them in October.”
Other departments besides finance
are involved in the conversion to IFRS
at Canadian Tire. These include information technology (because of the project’s effect on information systems), treasury (because of its impact on banking
relationships and debt governance), human resources, and the legal department
M O N T R É A L • O T TAWA • T O RO N T O • E D M O N T O N •
(which will conduct contract reviews).
C A L G A RY • VA N C O U V E R
Other companies have been diligent
www.fmc-law.com/tax
about company-wide involvement as well.
“I think the most important thing is the

STOP-LOSS. DEEMED YEAR END.
FOREIGN INVESTMENT ENTITY.
SIFT. LIMITATION ON BENEFITS.
FAPI. ELIGIBLE INTEREST. GAAR.
CHANGE OF CONTROL. AT RISK.
ROLLOVER. ADJUSTED COST BASE.
PERSONAL SERVICES BUSINESS.
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sion of the multioperational agricultural firm. Agrium’s core
conversion team involves members of the controller’s group, along
with other key people throughout the organization, including
representatives from its information technology, wholesale and
retail business units. All these units contain financial personnel
who are spearheading a company-wide effort to make sure information is disseminated as required for IFRS purposes, says Waterman. In particular, Agrium’s information technology group is
assisting with key architectural changes the company will be
making to its IT processes or systems to generate the kind of
information needed for IFRS, Waterman says.
Some firms are thus making good progress. However, the
global economic tsunami of the latter half of 2008 made an already
difficult situation even worse for smaller PAEs that don’t have
the comparable financial or personnel resources to devote to
IFRS as their larger peers.
“Typically our client base right now consists of nonprofit
organizations and junior resource public companies, and IFRS
implementation really couldn’t have come at a worse time for
them,” says Bridget Noonan, senior manager with D&H Group
LLP, a chartered accounting firm in Vancouver. “They’ve been
severely affected by the economic conditions to the point of having
to worry about corporate survival because their cash flow has been
severely impacted by the credit crunch.” And with their remaining staff engaged in survival mode, it is virtually impossible to get
a company-wide response to IFRS, sparking fears there’s going

to be a push at the last minute, far beyond the optimal time
when important choices need to be made, Noonan says.
The economic downturn is unfortunate because 2009 is a critical year. “A lot of this year has to be in the planning and preparation stage,” says Gord Beal, principal of financial reporting and
governance and project leader for the transition to international standards at the CICA.
“Liquidity has really tightened up, affecting the ability of companies to cope with the operations side, specifically financing,” says Cherry. “It’s tough for many companies. We’re sensitive to that. We’re continuing to keep our ears open and listen
to the practical concerns that people have.” Notwithstanding the tough market conditions, however, Cherry says firms
should not deviate from their IFRS conversion strategy.
One area where the economic crisis is affecting the Toronto
Dominion Bank Financial Group is in terms of IFRS staffing,
sometimes stretching available experts thin. “Because we’re a
bank, we need people who understand capital markets as well
as people who understand the business. There are very few of
these individuals,” says Kelvin Vi Luan Tran, the bank’s senior
vice-president and chief accountant. “Although we have a team
dedicated to IFRS, many of the internal experts who are consulted
by the team are also dealing with these market issues. So from
that perspective, it’s really stretching their time,” Tran says.
While staffing for the IFRS conversion has thus far gone
smoothly at Bombardier, like other major long-term projects

30 Management Strategies for a
Tough Economy
Avoid the common mistakes managers make in a downturn and
improve the morale, productivity and innovation of your company.
Request your free guide today at www.rhi.com/30Mistakes, or
by calling 1.800.803.8367.
Accountemps, Robert Half Finance & Accounting and Robert Half
Management Resources are the leaders in specialized financial staffing
for temporary, full-time and project placement, respectively.

1.800.803.8367
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roberthalffinance.com
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Beal and other experts stress that a number of key decisions with

While January 1, 2011,
may loom as the official cutoff date for the switchover,

respect to IFRS require early attention.

like the sign in the side mirror, things are closer than they appear
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where there is competition for resources, Bouchard anticipates between Canadian GAAP and IFRS and is now well into phase
the economic crisis — among other issues — will at times stress two of its project, which involves reaching conclusions about
the staffing situation as members are asked to deal with other how those differences should be bridged, and the business process and systems implications associated with them. However,
pressing financial matters.
“When I talk to people, they still say January 1, 2011, is a long Brooks also acknowledges a nagging feeling that “we’re a little
way away,” says Beal. But he and other experts stress that key deci- behind where we should be.”
Brooks, who emphasized the importance of a full-company
sions with respect to IFRS require early attention. While January
1, 2011, may loom as the official cutoff date for PAEs to switch to buy-in to the IFRS conversion process when interviewed by
IFRS, like the sign in the side-view mirror, things are sometimes CAmagazine in April 2008, notes that the corporate services
closer than they appear. For example, 2010 is when firms need group, including financial staff at BCE, has received very good
to begin collecting comparative IFRS information while at the support from the IT group. However, she says, “We still have
same time continuing to report under Canadian GAAP. Thus, an awful lot of work to do in terms of getting further out into
for companies with calendar year ends, an opening IFRS balance the business.”
sheet needs to be prepared as of January 1, 2010.
Staffing has also presented challenges. “There are no incremenIFRS 1 — First-time Adoption of International Reporting tal resources assigned to this particular effort,” she says. “Given
Standards is a key source for the decision-making processes that the recent management staff reduction that BCE went through
will guide financial executives and other professionals through last summer [moves not related to the recession], it’s a question
their IFRS conversion process.
of reallocating resources to the extent we can. When you’re in a
“IFRS 1 is there to facilitate first-time adoption. You only have cost containment/cost reduction environment, something like
those options available once when you apply for the first time, the implementation of IFRS puts an incremental burden on the
so it is very, very important to understand IFRS 1, decode it, and organization in terms of workload.”
Financing for the IFRS conversion has not been a problem
make sure people understand what those options are so they
can take advantage of all of them,” says Ron Salole, vice-president at BCE. “Because this is regulatory compliance work, funding
is not an issue. We’re trying to keep costs as low as possible,
of standards at the CICA.
One of the choices being considered under IFRS 1 at Agrium, but it’s recognized in the organization that this is not optional
for instance, is whether the firm should write up the value of work,” Brooks says.
BCE won’t be able to conclusively determine the accuracy of
certain assets. There are accounting implications associated with
such moves relating to factors such as depreciation or amortiza- its original budget estimates until a full assessment of the information technology implications of IFRS has been carried out.
tion — and ultimately profitability — says Waterman.
One of the activities Bombardier is considering concerns what The big dollars are going to depend on the conversion’s impact
to do about off-balance-sheet pensions. “You have an option to on financial and other systems infrastructure, and if significant
take your off-balance-sheet pension and bring it on-balance sheet,” change is required, that will be very expensive, says Brooks.
At Bombardier, IFRS budgeting has been largely adequate,
says Bouchard. “For us that would be a very significant adjustment because we have a very significant
pension deficit off-balance sheet. In terms
ENSURE THAT YOUR SHAREHOLDERS
of dollar impact, that could be one of the
PROFIT FROM YOUR ACQUISITIONS
biggest, most visual impacts for the readers of our financial statements, because
THE ACQUISITION VALUE CYCLE™:
that’s more than $1 billion that would
CREATING SHAREHOLDER VALUE
come on the balance sheet, based on curTHROUGH STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS
HOWARD E. JOHNSON
rent numbers,” he says.
Karyn Brooks, senior vice-president
Call Toll-Free: 1-800-387-5164 | In Toronto: 416-609-3800
ORDER # 981889-10916 $93
Hardcover March 2009
Online: www.carswell.com/email
and controller of BCE in Montreal, reports
approx. 365 pages
978-0-7798-1889-1
IFRS conversion work at her firm is progressing well. About a year into the project, the company has completed its gap
assessment of the applicable differences
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ing accounting staff will help the business staff understand the
implication of what’s happening, says Thomas. And while that
expense has already been included in the company’s budget,
that’s one area he thinks will consume a lot of effort across the
organization over the next couple of years.
Tran says the TD Bank is on track to meet its IFRS milestones. From a tactical standpoint, he says, “I think we did it a
little bit differently than some other organizations that plan,
scope, and then do implementation.” TD’s IFRS conversion exercise started out with enterprise-wide, high-level training
for staff in such areas as technology, risk and the bank’s various businesses. At the same time, the
company started preparing a project
plan, which was implemented through
much of 2008.
Although there have not been any
aggregate cost overruns so far, certain
individual areas have ended up costing more than expected, Tran says. “We
found in our planning that certain issues were actually quite costly to reJune 18 - June 19, 2009
solve. For example, when we go live for
Metro Toronto
IFRS, we need to provide comparative
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we anticipated.”
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a few valuable lessons the company
Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP.
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how to avoid getting buried in details
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or spending a lot of time and effort
Translating lessons from the “links” to leadership,
www.step.ca/2009
towards things that end up not really
providing a command of emotional intelligence
adding a lot of value. “You have to have
for today’s tough business climate.
a business overlay and look at what
you are trying to do,” says Waterman.
Generally, companies are reporting that it is too early to be educating
STEP Canada is the Canadian branch of the leading international organization for trust and
external shareholders and credit anaestate practitioners. There are almost 2,000 members across Canada and 14,000 around
lysts, etc., and that there has not been
the world. The Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners is a multi-disciplinary organization
a lot of demand to date in that area.
that includes lawyers, accountants, financial planners, insurance advisors and trust
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the end of this year as firms begin to
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provide some indication of how IFRS
will affect their financials.

although there have been some extra, unforeseen costs that have
not yet made a large difference compared with early forecasts.
For instance, data collection has taken longer than originally
anticipated, and furthermore, Bouchard notes, there are a lot more
details to iron out before all costs become evident.
The company is establishing its training programs for staff,
although to date, Bombardier has focused on finance, which has
in turn worked closely with IT to determine what, if any, modifications are necessary to be able to run parallel statements under
both Canadian GAAP and IFRS in 2010.
When training gets ramped up at Canadian Tire, all exist-

JOIN US FOR THE
11TH CANADIAN
NATIONAL
CONFERENCE
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Firms preparing for IFRS are also considering how a number
of technical issues might uniquely affect them. “Whereas on the
surface a lot of the standards may look alike, when you get down
into the detail and apply them, you may identify some standards
that impact your organization in a way that you may not have
realized,” says Salole.
BCE, for instance, is closely considering the accounting treatment it will bestow on capital assets and revenue recognition.
Substantial changes are anticipated with respect to pension
accounting and possibly also consolidations, says Brooks.
“Canadian Tire is a large securitizer,” says Thomas, “so our current understanding would be that the off-balance-sheet financing
structures that support securitization are likely to end up back
on the balance sheet. That’s just one example of a change, but
that would obviously be fairly significant for us.”
Securitization is the IFRS-related issue Tran believes will affect
TD Bank the most — dealing with which assets should be treated
on- and off-balance sheet.
Two of the major sections that will significantly affect Noonan’s
clients are IFRS 6 — Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources, which is going to be fundamental for the majority
of D&H Group’s client base, as well as the amendments under
IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment, which will allow for
componentization of capital assets. “For public companies that
are capital intensive, that’s going to be a serious undertaking,”
she says.
With respect to IAS 16, the issue is concern over componen-

tization, says Martin, whereby individual components of an object, such as the airplane engine or its fuselage, have a different
lifespan, thereby affecting the way depreciation is calculated
for the asset as a whole.
“This issue has bubbled up to the surface because people read
IAS 16 and they encountered this discussion about components
and perhaps didn’t realize there was a corresponding discussion already in the Handbook,” he says. “They started worrying
about having to break down every asset they own into individual nuts and bolts and components, which is not what Canadian
GAAP ever required, nor what IAS 16 requires either.”
Noonan is concerned that a final definition of what a PAE is
(and therefore, by definition, what constitutes a non-PAE) has
not yet been finalized. “We’re waiting for the publicly accountable definition before we can start looking through our client
base and identifying everybody who’s going to have this application. We have clients asking if they’re publicly accountable, and we’re not sure what the answer is,” says Noonan, and
this will affect the IFRS training D&H Group provides its staff.
“Our clients are a little bit more dependent on us because
they’re smaller entities with less staff, so they’re really looking
to us for some guidance,” she says.
In March the AcSB published an IFRS exposure draft, which
includes a revised definition of a PAE, and a final exposure draft
will be issued later this year.
Jeff Buckstein is an Ottawa-based writer
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Feature

Comparing IFRS to GAAP

In the transition to IFRS, PAEs will have to
deal with a few common issues. Here's a
comparison of the old way and the new way

7

By Nadi Chlala & Andrée Lavigne

Seven key
differences
C anada’s publicly accountable enterprises (PAEs)
have to give up Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) and switch to international financial reporting standards
(IFRS) for annual periods starting on or after January 1, 2011.≥ Despite
the fact that few PAEs have started moving on this — as some surveys
have shown — such enterprises should have completed their transition planning and assessed the anticipated effect of the change on
their financial reporting by the end of this year. In fact, the Canadian
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Securities Administrators want to see
those plans discussed in management’s
discussion and analysis covering fiscal
year 2008.
Although Canadian GAAP has been
moving toward being more principlesbased, rules still carry the day in many
instances. For its part, IFRS is almost entirely based on principles. Consequently, the answers to conversion questions
may not always be as clear as those involved in financial reporting might like.
Often, the application of IFRS standards
will, in fact, require a change in mindset. Those standards require preparers
of financial statements to pick accounting policies that accurately reflect the
economic substance of their particular
transactions. Different entities applying
IFRS to their specific operations, therefore, may well interpret the same standard quite differently.
Adopting IFRS does not only affect
how items are accounted for but also calls
for more extensive disclosures. To fully
assess the impact of changing to IFRS,

a PAE might want to consult IFRS-based
financial reports published by other Canadian entities operating in the same
business sector. Since very few Canadian
companies are likely to be adopting IFRS
prior to 2011, such reports might be difficult to find. A PAE could, however, refer
to financial statements published in other
countries that have already converted to
IFRS. Such financial statements might
provide useful insight for selecting key
accounting policies. The recently released
CICA publication Financial Reporting in
Canada under IFRS (FRIC-IFRS) will also be of great assistance (go to http://www.
knotia.ca/kStore/Catalogue/Product Pricing.cfm?productID=751). It contains annotated extracts from more than 200 companies that have adopted IFRS, laying out
the issues likely to cause the most conversion difficulty.
Using a summary table, this article analyzes a few significant IFRS and Canadian
GAAP differences, explains their origins
and looks at one set of IFRS financial statements that illustrates those differences.
Sources of differences
Even though some Canadian accounting
standards have been harmonized with
IFRS, differences still persist between
both sets of standards. Some IFRS standards differ significantly from Canadian
GAAP requirements for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
transactions and events. Moreover, some
issues are addressed only in one of the two
sets of standards. For example, Canadian
GAAP does not cover accounting for agricultural activities, while there is a specific
IFRS on that issue. Canadian GAAP has
certain industry-specific standards, say,
for investments companies, while IFRS
does not have such standards.
Extent and analysis of differences
Accounting literature now offers a number of detailed comparisons of IFRS and
Canadian GAAP, including FRIC-IFRS,
which covers IFRS standards and proposals issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee.
A good starting point for identifying
significant differences is the Summary
Comparison of Canadian GAAP and IFRSs

as of July 31, 2008, issued by Canada’s Accounting Standards Board. This publication
puts each Canadian standard and its IASB
equivalent into one of three categories in
terms of how different their requirements
are: no conflicts, slight and significant.
Based on that classification and given what
we learned when we researched FRICIFRS, we believe that PAEs will pretty
much all have to deal with the following
four topics in their changeover to IFRSµ:
• property, plant and equipment
• revenues
• impairment of assets
• provisions
We have also identified three other
topics where we believe Canadian practice might differ fundamentally from
that mandated by IFRS and that would
likely affect most PAEs:
• presentation of financial statements
• related parties
• leases
Following is a high-level overview of
those seven topics. It discusses key issues
and refers to certain sections of the 2007
annual report of GDF Suez, a French utilities company headquartered in Paris (see
www.archives-suez.com/en/finance/annual-report/2007/reference-document2007/reference-document-2007/), to cast
additional light on IFRS requirements.
≥ The AcSB omnibus exposure draft
Adopting IFRSs in Canada, II
collectively refers to entities required to
apply IFRSs after January 1, 2011, as
“publicly accountable enterprises.”
The exposure draft also lists the types
of Canadian reporting entities that are
exempted from adopting IFRS on January
1, 2011. Pension plans, for example, will
continue to follow current CICA
Sec. 4100, Pension Plans instead of the
pertinent IFRS (IAS 26, Accounting
and Reporting by Retirement Benefit
Plans).
µ We have not included business
combinations and noncontrolling interests
since these issues, which differed significantly as of July 2008, are now converged (with
the issuance of CICA Sec. 1582 and CICA
Sec. 1602). They are, however, key topics
for PAEs considering business acquisitions
before their transition to IFRS. Those topics
will be discussed in a separate article.
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Analysis of certain key Canadian GAAP-IFRS differences
IFRS requirements

How Canadian GAAP differs

IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements
Subtotals
Additional subtotals or line items should be presented on
the face of the income statement when they are relevant to an
understanding of an entity’s financial performance.
When including such items, companies should:
• clearly convey the relevance of the subtotal to the readers
of the financial statements;
• reorder the line items to adequately explain the
particular element of financial performance.
When reporting the results of operating activities (i.e.,
operating income) or similar line items, entities should ensure
that the amount disclosed is representative of activities
that would normally be regarded as operating, including
all items of an operating nature (e.g., inventory writedowns,
restructuring charges and share-based payments).

Entities reporting under Canadian GAAP tend to limit the
number of subtotals.
Additional lines on the face of financial statements
increase transparency but companies need to ensure that
they clearly follow the guidance under IAS 1, particularly
as it relates to the operating income subtotal.

Expense presentation
Under IAS 1, expenses can be presented according to either
their nature or their function. A company that chooses to
present an income statement by function is required to
provide additional disclosures on the nature of the expenses
within a specific function, “including depreciation and
amortization expense and employee benefits expense.”

Canadian GAAP does not discuss expense presentation.
Many Canadian companies present their expenses by
function. These companies have to ensure that they
disclose the required information on the nature of expenses
in the notes to the financial statements.
Although including those additional disclosures in other
notes to the financial statements would satisfy the IAS 1
requirement for greater transparency, companies should
consider including those disclosures in a single note.

For an illustration of IAS 1 requirements see the consolidated income statements of Suez in the 2007 annual report (page 198),
which present:
• expenses by nature (generally Canadian companies present the expenses by function)
• three subtotals:
1. current operating income (further details are provided in note 4 on pages 227 and 228; see also accounting policy note 1.4.17);
2. income from operating activities (further details are provided in note 5 on pages 229 to 231); and
3. net income.
In the statements of cash flows (page 199), Suez presents a subtotal in the cash flow from operating activities section.
Note that the income statement format will change as required by IAS 1 (revised in September 2007), which is effective on or after
January 1, 2009. Under this revised standard, the presentation of the income statement will include components of “other comprehensive
income,” which is similar to Canadian GAAP except that, under IFRS, only one of the following two presentations is allowed:
• income statement and other comprehensive income items together in a single statement of comprehensive income with subtotals;
• income statement, followed by a separate statement of comprehensive income.
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IFRS requirements

How Canadian GAAP differs

IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment
Component accounting
IAS 16 specifies that component accounting must be used
for property, plant and equipment (PPE), requiring separate
depreciation for each part of a PPE item that has a significant
cost in relation to the item’s total cost.

Canadian GAAP has an equivalent requirement, but the
concept of component accounting is only briefly mentioned.
An entity should consider applying component
accounting when it replaces a major part of an asset or when,
under its current Canadian accounting policy, it:
• capitalizes expenditures related to the replacement of
a part of an asset, or
• accrues as a liability future repairs to an asset (note that
such accruals would not be allowed under IFRS).
Though the application of component accounting might be
time consuming, it might not have a significant impact on the
financial statements of Canadian entities as the depreciation
rates they use often reflect the average useful life of all
individual asset components taken together. In addition,
Canadian companies often allocate costs to components of an
asset (e.g., a plant is broken down into its machinery and
building components) as this is what Canadian tax authorities
also require.

Depreciation
Depreciation is an allocation of costs to different periods.
This requires an assessment of residual values and of the
depreciable lives of assets. The estimates of the lives of assets
and their residual value must be reviewed at least annually.

Equivalent depreciation methods are available under Canadian
GAAP but the estimates of residual values and the depreciable
lives of assets may be assessed differently because Canadian
GAAP requires companies to assess the estimated residual value
and life only when circumstances have changed and the entity
believes a change in estimate is necessary.

Capitalization of borrowing costs
Interest must be capitalized on self-constructed assets. Guidance
is provided for calculating amounts eligible for capitalization.

Canadian GAAP permits capitalization but does not require it.
This could therefore entail a change in accounting policy, which
could be significant for entities that self-construct their PPE.

Revaluation model
IFRS allows companies to revalue assets at fair value if reliable
measures are available. Under that model, changes in fair value
are generally recognized in equity (to the extent not previously
recognized in the income statement and to the extent that a
decrease does not exceed the balance of the revaluation surplus
for an asset) and subsequent depreciation is charged to the
income statement. If an item of PPE is revalued, the entire class
of assets to which that asset belongs should also be revalued.

Canadian GAAP does not allow companies to revalue to fair value
except in cases where an asset has been impaired and must
be written down to a lower value. We observed in FRIC-IFRS that
the revaluation model is rarely used in practice by companies
that have adopted IFRS.

In its notes to the financial statements, Suez presents the following information on its PPE:
• its accounting policy (notes 1.4.5 and 1.4.7 on pages 207 to 209);
• detailed reconciliations of amounts reflected on its consolidated balance sheets and other information (note 11 on pages 245 and 246).
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IFRS requirements

How Canadian GAAP differs

IAS 17 – Leases
Lease classification
Under IAS 17, a lease arrangement is classified as a
finance lease when substantially all risks and rewards
incidental to ownership have been transferred. This general
principle is assessed via a series of qualitative indicators.

Canadian GAAP has fewer qualitative indicators but
also provides numeric thresholds that are used as bright
lines in practice. It is likely that more leases will need
to be capitalized under IFRS.

Other issues
IAS 17 has a series of requirements, including for:
• the discount rate to be used when determining the
present value of minimum lease payments;
• leased items comprising both a land and a building
component; and
• sale and leaseback transactions.

The differences between Canadian GAAP and IAS 17
requirements might be significant. The extent of those
differences will depend on the specific lease arrangements.

Suez presents in the notes the following information on its leases:
• accounting policy (note 1.4.8 on page 210);
• reconciliations and other information related to finance leases (note 22 on pages 289 and 290);
• reconciliations and other information related to operating leases (note 23 on pages 291 and 292).

IAS 18 – Revenues
IAS 18 provides general guidance; specific requirements
on construction contracts are provided in IAS 11.

In general, revenue recognition principles in IFRS are consistent
with Canadian GAAP. It may be appropriate to continue using
the Canadian interpretation for multiple-element arrangements
(EIC 142 — Revenue Arrangements With Multiple Deliverables).
In certain circumstances, however, the Canadian interpretation
related to delivery of goods (EIC 141 — Revenue Recognition)
might be inappropriate; for example, when it is based more on
legal considerations than on economic substance.

Suez presents the following information on its revenues in its notes to the financial statements:
• accounting policy (various sources of revenues, including construction contracts; notes 1.4.13 and 1.4.16 on pages 214 to 216);
• details of amounts recognized (note 4.1 on page 227).

IAS 24 – Related party disclosures
IFRS does not contain specific requirements for the
recognition and measurement of related party transactions.
Since IAS 24 addresses only disclosure issues of
related party relationships and transactions, one could
assume that the general recognition and measurement
principles contained in other IFRS standards and
interpretations would apply.

Generally, IFRS adoption may not create a change for most
Canadian organizations when they record related party transactions at the “exchange amount” as defined in CICA Sec. 3840
— Related Party Transactions, because initial cost, in accordance
with the measurement guidance in many IFRS standards, equals
the exchange amount. However, significant differences might
arise in other situations.

Suez has two notes on related party transactions:
• Note 27 discloses transactions with joint ventures and associates (pages 301 and 302);
• Note 28 discloses executive compensation (page 302). Such a note is not required by Canadian GAAP.
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IFRS requirements

How Canadian GAAP differs

IAS 37 – Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
IFRS requires that a provision be recognized:
• if it is likely that a future event will confirm that a liability
has been incurred and a reasonable estimate can be made
of the amounts involved;
• on the basis of a legal or a constructive obligation.
Where a range of values is available as a possible outcome, and the unfavourable outcome is probable, companies
must record the midpoint of the range as a provision.

Generally, Canadian GAAP has similar requirements. On the
issues noted:
• According to Canadian GAAP, “likely” is a higher recognition threshold than the “more likely than not” required under
IFRS.
• Under Canadian GAAP, restructuring costs and asset
retirement obligation provisions are recognized only when
there is a legal obligation and not where there is a constructive obligation.
Where a range of values is available as a possible outcome, Canadian GAAP requires that a company report the
low end of the range if the outcome is probable and disclose
the upper end of the range in the notes.

Suez presents the following information on provisions in its notes:
• accounting policy (note 1.4.15 on page 215);
• detailed reconciliations of amounts reflected on its consolidated balance sheets and other information
related to various provisions (note 19 on pages 275 to 278).

IAS 36 – Impairment of assets
IFRS requires companies to recognize an impairment of PPE
and intangible assets, including goodwill.
IFRS allows impairment reversals for nonfinancial assets
except goodwill.

Canadian GAAP also requires the recognition of impairment
for PPE and intangible assets, including goodwill.
The two sets of standards do, however, have different
methods for evaluating impairment.
Canadian GAAP prohibits the reversal of impairments on
PPE and intangible assets, including goodwill.

Suez presents the following information on the impairment of PPE , intangible assets and goodwill in its notes:
• accounting policy, including its reversal (notes 1.4.4.1.2, 1.4.4.2.3 and 1.4.5.3 on pages 206 to 208);
• details of impairment amounts (including financial assets) and other information
(notes 5.2, 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 on pages 230 and 231).
Note that IFRS introduces new concepts such as recoverable value, value in use and Cash Generating Unit.

This is a brief overview of some important differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP. Readers are encourage to
consult publications with greater detail
and discussion, such as FRIC-IFRS.
When Canadian companies convert to
IFRS, their particular circumstances may
warrant making significant changes to
their accounting policies even if differences with Canadian GAAP are initially
perceived to be slight. In-depth analysis
and planning could help PAEs avoid some

unpleasant surprises when they actually
come to adopt IFRS.
As well, IFRS is not static. The IASB
has many projects outstanding, some of
which will be accelerated in light of the
current financial crisis. Consequently,
IASB requirements that are expected to
be effective when Canadian PAEs prepare
their first interim financial statements
in 2011 may well change before then. The
participants in the financial reporting
community need to keep a careful eye on

the status of these projects so that they
know what is going on and how it affects
their changeover plans.
Nadi Chlala, FCA, FCMA, is a professor
at ESG, Université du Québec à Montréal,
and university associate director at Accelia
and DMR, divisions of Fujitsu Canada Inc.
Andrée Lavigne, CA, is a principal in
the CICA's research studies department in
the knowledge development group
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ta x at i o n

qualified investments

By Alan Macnaughton + Amin Mawani

New tax savings opportunity

T

ax-free savings accounts (TFSAs) were introduced in the 2008 federal budget and have been

issued since January 2009. While TFSAs are similar
to registered retirement savings plans (RRSPs) in
that investment income on savings held inside either type
of plan is sheltered (exempt) from annual taxation, there
is a key difference: RRSP contributions are deductible and
withdrawals are taxable, while TFSA contributions are
nondeductible and withdrawals are nontaxable.
An employee stock option is a qualified investment
for a TFSA, provided the underlying security is a qualified investment. Generally, an option that is a qualified
investment for an RRSP will also be a qualified investment
for a TFSA. However, certain insiders are effectively prevented from contributing stock options to a TFSA because
prohibited investments include a right to acquire a share
in any entity with which the holder of the TFSA is not at
arm’s length or has a significant interest.
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Most employee stock options have been eligible to be
contributed to an RRSP for many years, but this has never
been popular. Taxpayers tend to avoid making such contributions primarily because of a concern about double
taxation: the benefit received on exercise is taxable as
employment income under paragraph 7(1)(c) and is also
taxable as part of the RRSP withdrawal. This double taxation concern does not apply to a TFSA because withdrawals are nontaxable. The employment income inclusion
is not eliminated by the contribution of the options to a
TFSA, but this is not a drawback since it would also occur
if the employee stock options were held personally.
The attraction of contributing employee stock options
to a TFSA is that court decisions may suggest that such
assets will be undervalued, and thus more than $5,000
of value may be put in a TFSA in this way without exceeding the $5,000 annual contribution limit.
There are no court cases on the specific question of contributing a stock option to any of the tax-advantaged savings plans. However, there are scattered pieces of evidence

mike constable

The $5,000 limit to tax-free savings accounts may be higher for
contributions of employee stock options than for cash
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drawn from interpretations of other provisions of the Income
value of the options than the taxpayer has used, the employee
Tax Act. In particular, the Tax Court of Canada’s 2006 decision in
would likely be in an overcontribution situation. For each month
Henley v. the Queen concerned the timing of a benefit under parathe TFSA has an excess balance, section 207.02 imposes a tax of
1% of the individual’s highest excess balance in that month.
graph 6(1)(a) from a stock option to which section 7 did not apply
Valuing stock options contributed to TFSAs may also be a
because the issuer of the option was not the taxpayer’s employer.
The issue concerned stock options issued by Unique Broadband
problem for the financial institutions that issue TFSAs. For each
Systems Inc. (UBS) and received by Christopher Henley’s employTFSA, issuers are responsible for reporting annually to the CRA
er, Canaccord Capital, as payment for investment dealer services.
the amount of total contributions and the fair market value of
Canaccord, in turn, passed the options on to Henley as payment
assets held as of December 31. Presumably, this information will
for his employment services in 1998. Justice Sheridan decided
be used in determining the tax on overcontributions, although
there was a paragraph 6(1)(a) benefit to Henley at the time the
the issuer is not required to collect the tax. Therefore, it may be
options were passed to him and that the amount of the benefit
prudent for an individual considering contributing stock options
for each option was the intrinsic value (the amount, if any, by
to a TFSA to find out from the TFSA issuer how the stock options
which the current market price of the share exceeds the exercise
will be valued in reports to the CRA.
Senior officials of the Income Tax Rulings Directorate of the
price): “In these circumstances, I am satisfied that the value of
CRA have indicated that intrinsic value is not reflective of the
the [options] was…the amount by which the fair market value of
fair market value of stock options, warrants or similar rights.
the UBS shares exceeded the exercise price under the [options].”
Rather, fair market value should be determined using a valuaSince the value of the shares was 32¢ and the exercise price was
31¢, the value of each option was determined to be 1¢.
tion method that is appropriate in the circumstances, such as the
Although the economic valuation of an employee stock option
Black-Scholes model or another accepted valuation model.
Two technical interpretations issued in 1995 and 1996 have
is subject to some debate, there is general agreement that the
intrinsic value method produces valuations that are too low. This is most obvious
The economic valuation of an employee stock option is
in the case of an option that is not in the
money (i.e., the share price is less than or
equal to the exercise price). In this case, the subject to debate, but there is agreement that the intrinsic
method produces a valuation of zero even
though a rise in the share price before the value method produces valuations that are too low
option expires could produce a profit on
exercise for the option holder. This appears to be an inevitable
often been regarded since that time by practitioners as providing
consequence of the intrinsic value method; if a stock option
authority for using intrinsic value as the valuation method for
that is 1¢ into the money is valued at 1¢, it is hard to come to any
employee stock options contributed to RRSPs, and it had been
other conclusion than assigning a zero value to an option that
expected that this method might also apply to employee stock
is not in the money.
options contributed to TFSAs. The Rulings officials state that
these interpretations simply used assumed values to illustrate
On appeal, the Federal Court of Appeal decision in 2008 explicthe other interpretive issues being answered and do not constiitly declined to comment on the choice of intrinsic value for valutute authority for the use of intrinsic value.
ation of the options, noting that the 1998 taxation year — the year
One disadvantage of holding the option through a TFSA is
Henley received the options — was not before the court. Possibly
that the employment income inclusion for options subject to
this lack of comment can be taken as a sign of disagreement with
the $100,000 subsection 7(8) election is advanced by paragraph
the trial judge’s use of intrinsic value.
The appeal court ruled that the year of receipt of the options
7(1)(c) from the time of disposition of the share to exercise of the
was the proper time for taxation since Henley had an absolute
option. For options in Canadian-controlled private corporations,
right to exercise at that time. In distinguishing this case from an
the disadvantages are greater — the taxation of all such options
is advanced from the sale of the shares to the date of exercise,
earlier case, the court stated that in the situation where a taxpayer
and the paragraph 110(1)(d.1) deduction is no longer available.
had to continue his or her employment in order to exercise the
Of course, these issues do not arise if the taxpayer plans to sell
options, no benefit under paragraph 6(1)(a) would occur until the
the shares soon after exercise.
time of exercise. Since this is a standard situation, perhaps this
implies that a typical employee stock option has no value until
A practical difficulty with exercising stock options is that the
the time of exercise, even if it has a positive intrinsic value.
TFSA probably will not have sufficient funds to pay the exercise
Whether a court would repeat the low valuations of the two
price and exercise the stock options, especially in the early years
Henley decisions if it is directly presented with an employee stock
before assets have accumulated. Since the TFSA trust is prohibited
option valuation, as in the case of an in-kind contribution of an
from borrowing by paragraph 146.2(2)(f) and the annual TFSA
employee stock option to a TFSA, remains to be seen. It should
contribution limit constrains cash injections, the only solution
be noted that family courts, unlike tax courts, have generally
is to sell or not acquire some of the shares. This could be implemented in three ways. One way is a cashless exercise, whereby
preferred Black-Scholes values over intrinsic values for employee
stock options, e.g. Ross v. Ross, 2006. If the courts establish a higher
the broker immediately sells the stock and issues a cheque to the
CA magazine
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employee for the intrinsic value at that date. A variation of this
is for the employee to elect a cash settlement in lieu of exercising, assuming this is provided in the stock option contract.
IT-113R4, paragraph 11, confirms that a paragraph 110(1)(d)
deduction is available in this circumstance, assuming the other
conditions for application of this paragraph are satisfied. Finally,
a last resort (which could possibly trigger application of the general anti-avoidance rule) is to make an excess contribution to the
TFSA. Although that will trigger a tax on the excess contribution,
the excess amount can be withdrawn within a few days and the
tax would apply for only one month. Hence the tax would only

be 1% of the excess contribution, which may be a relatively small
cost for the advantage to be gained. Also, the amount of excess
contribution could be minimized by completing the exercise in
a series of partial exercises within a calendar month followed
by sales to raise cash. The optimal number of separate exercises
and sales would be determined by the transaction costs of a sale
versus the tax on the excess contribution.
Transfer of an employee stock option to a TFSA shouldn’t
trigger additional reporting on the employee stock option plan
to the OSC or the TSX since the transfer of a stock option to an
RRSP does not appear to do so. However, amendments to the
employee stock option contract may
be required to allow a nonemployee
(TFSA) to hold and exercise the option.
If an asset contributed to a TFSA is
undervalued, major tax advantages can
be obtained because the valuation determines the contribution room used up.
Guidance from the courts, particularly
in the two recent Henley cases, is sparse
and of uncertain reliability but is possibly supportive of undervaluation of
employee stock options contributed to
TFSAs. Taxpayers considering contributing employee stock options to a TFSA
on the basis of such arguments should
do so soon after the granting of the options when the intrinsic value is low.
On the other hand, the CRA denies that
intrinsic value is an appropriate valuation method and instead recommends
methods which would greatly increase
the amount of contribution room used
3fQZcaWdSZgT]`1VO`bS`SR/QQ]c\bO\ba1/@SaSO`QV>ZcaUWdSag]c(
up. Application of the CRA’s methods
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Portions of this article appeared in the Canadian Tax Journal (Contributions of Employee Stock Options to RRSPs and TFSAs: Valuation Issues and Policy Anomalies, Vol. 56, No. 4,
2008, 893-922) and in Canadian Tax Highlights and are reprinted by permission of the
Canadian Tax Foundation
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The Practical Guidance You Need to
Prepare Consistent Financial Statements
MODE

Model Financial Statements — IFRS/ISA

Financia L
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ents

DECEMB
ER 2008

Developed by the Ordre des comptables agréés du Québec,
Model Financial Statements — IFRS/ISA is designed to
help publicly accountable enterprises prepare for the
implementation of IFRS and comply with the new ﬁnancial
reporting obligations. Includes a CD-ROM of customizable
ﬁnancial statements that allows you to create statements
to meet the needs of your clients and your business.

To order: knotia.ca/store/mfsifrs-pk
IFRS/IA
S
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du Qué
bec

MODE

Model Financial Statements —
General Purpose for Private Enterprises

Financia L
l Statem
ents

DECEMB
ER 2008

Designed for private enterprises, including manufacturing
or commercial enterprises, Model Financial Statements
— General Purpose will give you the guidance you need
to prepare consistent ﬁnancial statements that reﬂect the
professional standards. Model Financial Statements includes
a CD-ROM for customization to suit your speciﬁc needs.

To order: knotia.ca/store/mfs-pk
General

Purpose
for Priv
ate Ente
rprises
Ord re des
com pta

ble s agr
éés

du Qué
bec

For more information or to order:
By telephone : 1-800-268-3793 (toll free); 416-977-0748 (in Toronto)
By Internet : www.knotia.ca/store
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assurance

ICT audits

By Gordon Pigeon

Realistic strategies
When auditing information and communication technology,
there are some solutions for the many unrealistic expectations

E

xpectations for information and communication technology (ICT) audits are becoming

more and more unrealistic. Professionals in the
field are being asked to provide near-complete
assurance in an area that is becoming increasingly harder
to define. As risks and pressure from regulatory bodies
escalate, new standards continue to develop and technology environments become ever more complex, how can
auditors adapt their audit approach to a situation that will
have changed by the end of their engagement?

jason schneider

Changing expectations
ICT audit professionals have to cope with the explosive
development of technology specialties. Not so long ago,
they were expected to master one programming language,
such as COBOL. Those who did then had to decipher the
linguistic subtleties of an operating system language
such as MVS and later UNIX. Today, the number of fields
has increased exponentially to include communications
protocols (wired and wireless), public key infrastructures,
security perimeters, black boxes, virtual environments,

strong authentication mechanisms, e-commerce and IP
telephony. ICT auditors are required to be multilingual,
which is a little like expecting a CA who is a controller
in a large corporation to be proficient in IFRS, taxation,
buyouts, international financing and so on.
The proliferation of ICT-related fields, which are themselves changing rapidly, is only one part of the problem.
Legal and regulatory requirements are becoming more
stringent as well. Many ICT auditors are now nostalgic for
a time when their only legal concern was ensuring compliance with software licences. Today, they are asked to
provide assurance that the company will comply fully
with SOX, IFRS, the Act respecting access to documents
held by public bodies and the protection of personal
information, the latest developments of the International
Organization for Standardization (ISO), and various other
requirements. It’s not surprising the profession is finding
it difficult to attract young CAs.
However, an auditor’s greatest challenge lies elsewhere.
As the inherent mission of ICT has changed dramatically
over the years, so have ICT audit engagements. At the outset, IT was limited to supporting administrative and industrial tasks such as automated accounting and invoicing,
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Customized strategies
payroll processing, computer-assisted design and publishing.
How can auditors adapt their approach to a situation that will
In 2009, ICT heads are expected to securely transform the busihave changed by the end of the engagement? They need to start
ness processes of their organization and give it a competitive
edge. The job of an ICT auditor is simply to make sure that these
by facing reality: this shift in expectations determines the skills
objectives have been achieved.
required to perform the role of ICT auditor effectively and effiLeading research companies such as Gartner Inc. are very
ciently. Ideally, ICT auditors should belong to one of two groups.
clear: ICT determines an organization’s competitive position.
They could be senior experts in a specific technology field such
Accordingly, it is the auditor’s job to evaluate the effectiveness
as security, architecture or development. Or their strength could
and efficiency of what is now the lifeblood of any organization.
reside in integrative skills, i.e. their ability to move from one field
This means that today’s ICT audit professionals can’t ask
to another without necessarily delving too deeply into either.
the same practical questions as in the past, such as:
Far from being superficial, this second approach is becoming
Is my new system billing the correct amounts?
more valuable because it is the only one that addresses the most
Does my accounting system include appropriate controls?
fundamental aspects of ICT. Let’s be clear: we’re not talking
about a generalist whose knowledge of ICT is limited to the latIs completeness of my batch transactions ensured?
est buzzwords. We are talking about an expert in management
These questions are too limited in scope given the expecrealities — and there are many such experts in the CA profestations of senior executives, who are asking such questions as:
sion — who also has a sound grasp of the general principles of
Is my company protected against cyberterrorism?
technology.
Is my e-commerce process integrated and impervious?
The first group usually includes individuals with computer
Are the amounts invested in ICT being used as effectively
science training who also have auditing knowledge and experias possible to meet business needs?
ence. The second group often includes CAs who have become
Do our ICT practices meet legal requirements?
familiar with the intricacies of ICT over the years. Some proHow can we reduce IT costs while optimizing operations?
Are our operations as secure as those of
our competitors?
The radical shift in what is expected of ICT auditors
Which of the 25 technologies available
should we choose?
inevitably means that their role has to be recast.
Is the way we use electronic signatures
within the company legally acceptable?
In fact, the very purpose of an ICT audit has changed
Do our procedures safeguard the personal
information we keep?
fessionals may belong to both groups, although their scarcity
illustrates the vital importance of training multidisciplinary
A changing role
The radical shift in what is expected of ICT auditors inevitably
teams. Teamwork and a matrix form of organization can optimize
means their role has to be recast. In fact, the very purpose of an
a multidisciplinary team’s performance.
The knowledge and skills gained in academic studies that
ICT audit has changed. It used to be focused on an application or
lead to degrees and professional designations constitute the
database; now it frequently concentrates on a group of systems
basis of ICT auditors’ knowledge. Unfortunately, current chaland internal/external networks or on all management principles
lenges are eroding this foundation and making it irrelevant.
and practices underlying ICT. The audit scope has therefore been
The few programming courses taken as part of an accounting
extended. Not too long ago, most ICT audit engagements sought
program are not particularly useful. Those rare CAs who also
to provide accurate information on the completeness of transachave an undergraduate degree in computer science certainly
tions and data, the validity of operational controls, etc.
have an edge, as short-lived as it may be. The question is how
Today, boards of directors and senior executives rely on ICT
to keep current with technical disciplines that are evolving at
auditors for a clear opinion on potential internal and external
a breakneck pace. The answer implies a combination of several
risks as a whole and on the methods used to mitigate them.
learning strategies.
Similarly, the audit objectives and the nature of the recomThe first recommendation is to systematically opt for metamendations translate into greater expectations in terms of added
value. ICT auditors can no longer simply identify a myriad of speresearch. Reading trade magazines or surfing a wide range of webcific weaknesses. Nor can they merely provide, on completion of
sites (which may not always be reliable) is useful. However, the
their engagement, a comprehensive list of technical corrections
time could be better spent consulting meta-research organizations
or suggested improvements to development or operating practices
such as Gartner and Forrester. Their analysts are always on the
derived from technical handbooks. Instead, senior management
lookout for technology trends and closely monitor their developexpects a report identifying risk areas and proposing principles
ment. This enables them to provide documents that condense the
for developing permanent processes based on international
contents of hundreds of specialized articles into a few pages.
standards and the industry’s best practices — principles whose
The second recommendation is to take specialized courses.
application would have a leveraging effect when correcting
While technical handbooks can be indispensable, usually one
certain weaknesses.
or two days of courses with a qualified instructor will be more
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useful. Thanks to the Internet, we can now choose from a number
of reasonably priced interactive courses, given by internationally
recognized experts, the cost of which would have been prohibitive just a few years ago.
However, it’s far from certain that even auditors who keep
current with ICT can overcome all the obstacles in their path.
They need to adopt an approach that will increase their efficiency.
For example, instead of trying to do everything themselves, ICT
auditors should assess the rigour and relevance of other professionals’ work, which they can then use to support their opinion. Nearly all major organizations have cyber security experts.
Instead of trying to do their work, why not use their reports as
a starting point — once their value has been carefully assessed
of course. This also applies to quality assurance staff assigned
to the development of large systems. If their tests were rigorous
and exhaustive, why duplicate them?
What’s more, the days when a server was diagnosed using
an arsenal of specialized tools are over. This method is inefficient
now that packaged diagnostic applications (NESSUS, Retina,
etc.) are available to perform hundreds of tests simultaneously
and provide a detailed report, often enhanced by meaningful
graphics. Of course these reports should be analyzed with the
utmost care by a qualified person. Such applications can perform
a task in a few hours that would have taken days or even weeks
to complete a few years ago.

Gordon Pigeon is IT audit manager with Hydro-Québec’s
internal audit unit
Technical editor: Yves Nadeau, CA, audit and risk management
partner with RSM Richter Chamberland LLP in Montreal
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Survival of the species
We tend to forget that many professions die out. It’s not just
the blacksmith and cartwright trades that have vanished. For
example, in the mid-1980s, typographers were swept away
by the tidal wave of desktop publishing. The survival of a
profession depends on its added value for an organization.
Accountants understood this a long time ago, since their discipline is a building block of any organization, and by extension, of society at large.
But does the same hold true for ICT auditors? Not necessarily. Above and beyond their requisite competencies, their future
depends on the strategic ICT vision they adopt and communicate.
They should never forget that ICT must adapt to business needs
in order to serve the company. ICT auditors will therefore frequently have to oppose the very natural tendency of many ICT
strategists to make the organization work for them. In other
words, ICT auditors will be judged by their ability to convey
a strategic vision for ICT and by the added value they bring to
the organization.
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exposure draft

By Karlene Mulraine

Going global
Just what are the implications of the new financial reporting
standard on income tax?

O

n March 31, 2009, the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) published an exposure

draft of a proposed new financial reporting stan-

Gary clement

dard on income tax. While the basic principles
for accounting for both current and deferred income
taxes (future income taxes in Canadian standards)
remain the same and are fundamentally consistent with
current Canadian GAAP, there are some noteworthy
differences. This new financial reporting standard is
expected to be in place for 2011 and should be considered
by enterprises adopting IFRS in their transition plan.
The basic principles under IFRS, US and Canadian
GAAP for accounting for income tax are consistent. In
particular, each accounts for deferred taxes using a temporary difference approach, whereby the tax consequences
of recovering or settling an entity’s assets or liabilities at
their carrying amount at the reporting date are recognized
in an entity’s financial statements. There are, however,
differences in the application of and exceptions to the
general principle included in the standards.

The proposed IFRS eliminates many of these differences, and much of the text of the current international
standard, IAS 12, has been rewritten to make it easier to
understand and apply. The final version of the new financial reporting standard will be part of Canadian GAAP
for publicly accountable enterprises in 2011. Canadian
constituents are encouraged to review the exposure draft
and to provide comments to the IASB. The exposure
draft is available on the Accounting Standards Board’s
income tax project page at www.acsbcanada.org.
Changes from Canadian GAAP
Differences between the exposure draft proposals and
current Canadian GAAP include:
• Defining a tax credit and an investment tax credit
The revised financial reporting standard will continue
to exclude from its scope an investment tax credit, but
now includes a definition for such credits, as well as a
definition of a tax credit. Section 3465, Income Taxes, also excludes investment tax credits from its scope, but defines them differently.
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• Exceptions removed or modified
Future income tax recognition exceptions under current Canadian
GAAP pertaining to the following would be eliminated:
• a temporary difference related to the liability component
of a compound financial instrument;
• a temporary difference arising from the difference between the
historical and current exchange rate translations of the cost of
nonmonetary assets and liabilities of integrated foreign operations; and
• a future income tax amount arising as a result of assets being
transferred between enterprises within a consolidated group.
Future income tax recognition exceptions under current Canadian GAAP pertaining to the following would be modified:
• the exception from the temporary difference approach pertaining to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures (provided
certain criteria are met) will be restricted to foreign subsidiaries
and foreign joint ventures.

average of all possible outcomes. This would apply to uncertainties in both current and deferred tax amounts.
• Two-step approach for recognizing
deferred tax assets
The two-step approach proposed for recognizing deferred tax
assets involves:
• recognizing deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits carried forward, and measuring them at the appropriate rate; and
• reducing deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance, so that
the net amount equals the highest amount that is more likely
than not to be realizable against taxable profit.
While enterprises are permitted to apply this two-step approach under current Canadian accounting standards, the exposure draft proposes it be required when applying the new
standard.

• Detailed guidance
• The initial recognition exception in IAS 12
Detailed guidance on accounting for the deferred tax effects
Under the proposed IFRS, the initial recognition exception in IAS
12 which prohibits the recognition of deferred tax amounts in cerof share-based payment transactions is included in the exposure
tain instances will be removed.
The proposed IFRS will require
While enterprises are permitted to apply the two-step
enterprises to account for the
initial recognition of such asapproach under current standards, the exposure draft
sets and liabilities as follows:
• record the asset or liability
proposes it be required when applying the new standard
(excluding any entity-specific
tax effects) that resulted in the
initial temporary difference in accordance with applicable
draft, but there is less guidance related to refundable taxes,
IFRSs;
flow-through shares and substantively enacted tax rates than
• recognize a deferred tax amount based on the difference
under current Canadian GAAP.
between the carrying amount of the asset or liability and the
tax basis available to the entity; and
Implications for IFRS transition plans
• recognize an allowance against or premium in addition to
The new IFRS is expected to be issued in 2010 and may become
effective in 2011. Even if the standard is not required in 2011,
the deferred tax liability. The premium or allowance would be
part of the deferred tax asset or liability.
companies adopting IFRS in 2011 may benefit from understandThis contrasts with existing Canadian GAAP, whereby differing the proposals so they can decide whether to adopt the proposals early on one of the following bases: the new standard for
ent amounts are computed and the cost or benefit of future income
all periods presented (ie, 2010 and 2011); or existing IAS 12 for
taxes increases or decreases the carrying amount of the asset.
any period presented that starts before the date the standard
is issued and the new standard for subsequent periods. Firms
• Uncertain tax positions
transitioning to IFRS should therefore consider the proposed
The proposed financial reporting standard provides specific
financial reporting standard on income tax in planning their
guidance on the treatment of uncertain tax positions. Tax positransition to IFRS.
tions are deemed to be uncertain if some degree of doubt exists
Entities may find the option permitting entities to apply
over whether amounts reported by the enterprise to taxation
the new standard to all periods presented more favourable,
authorities will be accepted.
as the alternative approach will require entities to learn and
The standard proposes that, with a few specified exceptions,
deferred tax assets and liabilities should be recognized for all
apply existing IAS 12 solely for the purpose of preparing results
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax losses
for a comparative period.
and tax credits that will result in deductible or taxable amounts
in future years when the related asset or liability is recovered or
Karlene Mulraine, CA, CPA, is a principal with the AcSB,
settled, rather than only those likely to be accepted by taxation
responsible for the income tax project. Views are her own and
do not represent official positions of the AcSB
authorities. Uncertainty over amounts to be accepted by taxation
authorities should impact their measurement.
Technical editor: Ron Salole, VP, Standards, CICA
The measurement basis proposed is a probability-weighted
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Come and see what your
competition is doing.
When you enter your company’s annual report in the Corporate Reporting Awards, you are demonstrating
your leadership and showing investors they can have confidence in your reporting. You also get to see what
your competition has done.
A distinguished panel of leading Canadian professionals judges the reports based on the areas most
critical to business success: disclosure, governance and sustainability. The experts provide you with a
report card showing your overall ranking in relation to the top scorer in your industry and helping you move
closer to best practices in financial reporting.
So even if you don’t win a CRA, you still win. For more information on the Corporate Reporting Awards,
please visit www.cica.ca/cra
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WEB FEATURES
News and exclusive items of interest to all accountants
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ta x at i o n

small business

By Julie Larocque + Brigitte Alepin

A few green measures
Growing numbers of SMEs would like to follow the green path,
and a tax stimulus could help them make such a transition

P

resident Barack Obama would like to see
ecological virtue ethics adopted worldwide.

Just look at the leaf-bearing emblem that will be
displayed on projects funded by the US$787-bil-

ryan snook

lion stimulus package. One glance is all it takes to comprehend the new US government’s commitment to the
environment.
Despite the economic and financial crisis, the US focus on ecological virtue is spreading across the border to
Ottawa. The Canadian government needs to think outside
the box to convince businesses to become genuine green
giants. Possible options include green taxation, an ingenious economic instrument that links ecological virtue
to economic decision-making processes. The Organization
for Economic Co-operation and Development has been
promoting green taxation since the dawn of the ecologi-

cal age. Several countries have already introduced it, and
others, including Germany, Denmark and the UK, have
launched green taxation reform.
Even though ecological taxation is in its infancy in
Canada, it has nevertheless managed to carve out a small
place for itself in the taxation regimes. A number of tax
measures encourage environmentally friendly consumption and investment, while others, like ecotaxes, are punitive and based on the polluter-payer principle.
A growing number of Canadian SMEs would like to
go green, and a tax stimulus could help them make the
transition. Businesses can benefit from advantageous
measures when they decide to follow the green path.
The Canadian green taxation guide compiles the main
environmental taxation measures applicable at the federal level. It is intended as a valuable tool to help users
quickly identify the relief measures available to firms
and their clients.
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A Canadian green taxation guide
I – Investment incentives
Class 43/ Manufacturing and processing equipment
Subject to the half-year rule (which generally allows half
the capital cost allowance [CCA] writeoff otherwise available
in the year the asset is first available for use by the taxpayer,
and will apply to the properties that are subject to this
measure) an enterprise that acquires equipment to process
natural gas or for facilities to produce alternative fuel for
vehicles is normally eligible for a 30% CCA deduction, on a
declining balance basis. This rate is temporarily increased
to 50% on a straight-line basis for equipment purchased on
or after March 19, 2007, and before 2012. (The 2009 budget
proposes that, in lieu of the accelerated CCA on a declining
basis for eligible assets acquired in 2010 and 2011, the 50%
straight-line accelerated CCA treatment will apply.)
However, Class 43 derives from the general taxation
regime, which is not primarily intended to save the planet.
Accordingly, some “dirty assets” may be included under
Class 43.
Class 43.1 and 43.2/ Renewable power generating
equipment
Some advantageous CCA rates are available to enterprises
that acquire certain types of energy-saving property
and equipment for renewable energy solutions. The purpose
of these measures is to encourage enterprises that generate
and sell electricity or that use energy in other industrial
sectors to make more efficient use of fossil fuels and increase
their use of alternative renewable energy. Geothermal pumps
used for nonindustrial processes or for greenhouses, and
heating and hot-water production in industrial, commercial
and income-producing residential buildings are included
in these classes.
Class 43.2 is a temporary measure. Introduced in 2005,
this class applies to energy systems acquired before 2020.
It offers an even more advantageous accelerated CCA than
the Class 43.1 rate, i.e. 50% instead of 30%. The eligibility
criteria for both classes are generally the same. However,
assets that qualify as Class 43.2 property must meet a higher
efficiency standard.
CCA for carbon capture and storage
The 2009 federal budget notes the government will consult
with stakeholders to identify specific assets used in carbon
capture and storage with a view to providing accelerated CCA.
Class 24 and 27/Water and air pollution control equipment
Since 1999, acquisitions of assets used to preserve water
and air no longer qualify for the favourable tax treatment

offered by classes 24 and 27. The maximum CCA that could
normally be claimed for the taxation year in which the
eligible capital property was acquired totalled 25% of the
original cost. The rest of the deduction was claimed in the
two years following, i.e. 50% in year two and 25% in year
three.
Research and development
R&D tax relief can encourage enterprises to invest in energy
efficiency and renewable resources. An investment tax
credit is computed based on eligible expenditures. The general
rate is 20%, although it may be as high as 35% for Canadiancontrolled private corporations. Similar rules also exist in
various provincial legislation.
In the 2009 budget, the R&D expenditure limit of $3
million, giving entitlement to enhanced tax credits (35%), is
gradually reduced when the taxable income for the previous
year exceeds $500,000, and will be fully eliminated when
the income exceeds $800,000. This change will apply where
the previous taxation year ends after 2008.
It is important to understand that while these measures
could be beneficial to the environment, the opposite
could also be true. R&D incentives are available to enterprises that harm the environment or that adopt behaviours
that run counter to current environmental values.
EcoENERGY for Biofuels Initiative
This initiative provides operating incentives for producers
of renewable alternatives to gasoline and diesel. The purpose
of the program is to encourage investment in production
facilities by partially offsetting the risks related to the supply
of raw materials and fluctuations in fuel prices.
This initiative was implemented following the repeal of
excise tax exemptions for renewable fuels. The program will
invest up to $1.5 billion over nine years and is effective
from April 1, 2008, to March 31, 2017.
Canadian renewable and conservation expense
With the objective of promoting the development and
conservation of various sources of renewable energy, under
the Income Tax Act, enterprises can create a notional expense
account or a Canadian renewable and conservation
expense. The account includes expenses for engineering,
design, site preparation, feasibility studies, contract
negotiations and regulatory approvals. The expenses can
be deducted in the year in which they are incurred or in a
subsequent year. Subject to a number of conditions, the
expenses can even be transferred to an investor who acquires
flow-through shares.
CA magazine
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II – Consumer Incentives
Public transit
In order to reduce car pollution, the Income Tax Act offers
a tax break to users of public transportation. The incentive is
in the form of a nonrefundable credit for the cost of a monthly
(or longer duration) pass for daily travel on buses, streetcars,
subways, commuter trains and ferries.

the full value of the gift from their taxable income.
The Income Tax Act sets no limit for the eligible
amount of an ecogift. The tax credit or donation is granted in
the year in which the donation is made and any unused
portion may be carried forward for the five subsequent
taxation years. Unlike the donors of other types of gifts,
donors of ecogifts are not subject to tax on their capital gains.

EcoAUTO Rebate Program
The EcoAUTO Rebate Program encourages Canadians to
purchase fuel-efficient vehicles by offering rebates of $1,000
to $2,000 to individuals who buy or sign a long-term lease
(12 months or more) for a fuel-efficient vehicle. The buyer
must fill in a form and forward it to Transport Canada.
Applications are assessed in the order in which they are
received.
This year’s models (2009) are no longer eligible under
this program. The rebate applies only to 2006, 2007 and 2008
model vehicles purchased or leased (12 months or more)
between March 20, 2007, and December 31, 2008. Note there
are no tax consequences if the vehicle is not used for the
purpose of earning income.

Environmental trusts
Beneficiaries of a trust that accumulates funds for the
purpose of funding the reclamation of a site used for the
operation of a mine, the extraction of clay, peat, sand,
shale or aggregates or the deposit of waste, can deduct their
contributions to the trust during the year. However,
beneficiaries are required to pay income tax on amounts
they receive from the trust, but can receive a refundable
tax credit equal to the amount of income tax payable
by the trust. At the federal level, the trust is required to
pay income tax under Part XII.4 Income Tax Act. The
implications at the provincial level should be reviewed
since certain specific rules may apply depending on the
province of residence.
In its most recent budget, the federal government also
announced a series of tax measures to address environmental
issues, including the following:
• a new Clean Energy Fund that supports clean energy
research, development and demonstration projects, including
carbon capture and storage;
• a $1-billion investment over five years for a Green
Infrastructure Fund. Funding will be allocated based on
merit and will support green infrastructure projects on
a cost-shared basis;
• an additional $300 million over two years as part of the
EcoENERGY Retrofit Program to support ecofriendly
renovations;
• a $10-million investment to improve the government’s
annual reporting on key environmental indicators, such
as clean air, clean water and greenhouse gas emissions;
• strengthening Canada’s nuclear advantage with $351
million to Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. for its operations,
including the development of the advanced CANDU
reactor, and to maintain safe and reliable operations at the
Chalk River Laboratories in Ontario.
It remains to be seen whether the government authorities,
either federal or provincial, will make better use of taxation
measures to protect the environment.

III – Ecotaxes
Ecotaxes are tax-based economic instruments the government
can use to protect the environment. They allow for higher
prices on certain products for which more environmentally
friendly substitutes are available. These taxes are intended
to encourage consumers to choose recyclable, reusable
and less polluting products. Canadian legislation provides
for very few ecotaxes.
Environmental levies (excise tax on fuel-inefficient vehicles)
Manufacturers and importers of vehicles purchased after
March 19, 2007, with a fuel consumption rating of 13 litres
or more per 100 kilometres are required to collect excise
taxes of between $1,000 and $4,000, depending on the fuel
consumption. The vehicles must be new and designed
primarily for use as passenger vehicles (including station
wagons, vans and sport utility vehicles). No levy is required
for pickup trucks and certain types of special vehicles.
IV – Other green tax measures
Ecological Gifts Program
Taxpayers who donate private land or a partial interest in
land with ecological value to an organization responsible for
protecting, in perpetuity, the biodiversity and natural state of
the gifted property can claim a tax credit or a deduction.
If the donor is an individual, the total value of the ecogift is
used to calculate a nonrefundable tax credit (15% on the first
$200 and 29% on the balance). Corporate donors can deduct
56 CA magazine
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People management

practices

By Carolyn Cohen

Management myths
Open-door policies and staff motivation may seem like sound
management policies. But do they work best for you?

I

n most disciplines, ideas, concepts and practices
are researched, put forth and then seen as abso-

lute truths never to be questioned or challenged.
Such is the case with management practices such
as open-door policies and staff motivation. Generally, if
you are doing something that is producing good results,
keep doing it. If, however, you are experiencing frustration regarding your work/life balance or your ability to
help your employees, you may want to consider doing
things differently.

blair kelly

Open-door policies
When asked if they are accessible to their direct reports
at all times — in other words maintain an open-door
policy — most managers take great pride in saying they

are. When asked how that is working for them, they
will often admit that it means they can’t get anything
done during the day. “When I really have work to complete, I must get into the office at about 5 a.m. or 6 a.m.,”
they say. “I have a hard time getting my staff to think for
themselves. They seem to come to me with so many tiny
issues.” And finally, “I want to be friendly with my staff
but there’s just too much chit-chat. Don’t they see this is
a workplace?” As with a myriad of issues, there are pros
and cons to an open-door policy, although it may be a bit
light on the pro side.
In its favour, being available for questions and conversation all the time may demonstrate a manager’s interest in the employee and the work that he or she does.
Admittedly, this is valuable. Also, it may look as though
it promotes efficiency because, in theory, questions are
answered and the employee is able to move on toward
completion of the task at hand. However, it doesn’t necessarily work that
way in practice.
As for the cons: a steady stream of
interruptions in the course of the day
makes it next to impossible for a manager to get his or her own work done.
There was a time, believe it or not, when
the only thing managers had to do was
manage people. With organizations
aiming at being leaner, those days are
gone. Today, managers have a great deal
of responsibility in addition to overseeing their direct reports. What happens when individuals have to put in
longer and longer hours? They become
resentful of those who put them in that
situation.
Equally important is the fact that
learning is restricted when someone is
there to answer every question as soon
as it is asked. Think back to the last time
you were sitting at your computer trying to figure something out. Sure, you
could have e-mailed tech support for
help, but you would probably have had
to wait at least a day and you needed an
CA magazine
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one who has firsthand knowledge about her needs, desires and
answer quickly. When you finally figured it out, you not only
what rewards guide her behaviour. She is the only one who is
derived personal satisfaction, but the answer was likely to be
able to effect change about herself and her situation. It is a bit
etched in your memory for all time. But what if too much time
was lost while you figured out the solution for yourself? When
arrogant to think that you, the manager, are in a better position
timing is crucial, other options may be more useful. Managing
than she is to know what is exciting to her. If you work harder
others may not be a manager’s only task, but the obligation he
than she does to change her work life, don’t be surprised if the
or she has to the direct reports is to help them grow, develop
attempt fails miserably.
and achieve independence. That is difficult to accomplish if a
Second, the employee’s response to a manager’s attempt to
manager is always rescuing them.
engage her can be understood in one of two ways. Either she is
Consider these viable options. Why not have set times durtruly happy doing what she does and feels no need to change
it, or she might like to do something different but is apprehening the day when you are willing and able to delegate, coach and
sive and holding back for some reason. If the former is true, she
counsel (much like a professor’s office)? That way, a manager is
should be allowed to continue doing the good job she’s done for
free to complete his or her work without interruption. Another
seven years. The manager needs to accept that average does not
thing one can do is convey availability: a wide-open door means
equal bad. Someone who consistently meets expectations over
come on in; a door left ajar means come in if it’s really important
and you’ve exhausted the alternatives; and a door that is closed
time should be valued. If she is not asking for help, the manager
means come in only if the building is on fire.
should back off.
The only way these options can work is if your employees
In the latter case, the manager would need to have the experunderstand what is expected of them when a manager is not
tise, time and inclination to be a counsellor to determine she
available. First, they should be instructed to try to figure out
would like some change even though she denies it and then to
the problem themselves (you need to express your confidence
figure out what it is that stands in her way.
that they will be able to do this). Next,
they should seek out another member
If you are serious about moving away from an open-door
of the team for help. Not only will this
let a manager off the hook in many
cases, but it will also foster an inter- policy, explain to employees that the reason for being less
dependence amongst team members, and that bodes well for overall accessible is to help them become more self-reliant
increased productivity. If no one else
is available to help, perhaps they can work on something else
Is there anything you should do in this situation?
until you’re free. Obviously, this assumes that the original pro(1) Having a conversation in which you ask the employee about
ject is not due immediately. Only if none of the above options
long-term career goals is important but take care not to be judgare viable should employees insist on meeting with you.
mental if the ambition just isn’t there.
One last thing if you are serious about moving away from
an open-door policy: explain to employees that the reason for
(2) Establish and maintain a good rapport with the individual
being less accessible is to help them become more self-reliant as
so if and when his or her needs change, he or she will feel comfortable about approaching you.
well as to allow for more quality time when you do get together.
You will be able to focus on them alone and not be distracted
by reading or sending e-mails, talking on the telephone, writ(3) If you think that fear of taking on something new could
ing notes about something else, etc.
be a problem, start by delegating simple tasks and be sure to
offer praise when the employee has been successful. Continue
providing opportunities for new experiences and try to obtain
Motivating your direct reports
feedback regularly.
A popular question in management seminars is about effective
ways to motivate direct reports. A typical example: “There is
an individual who reports to me in a pretty boring and routine
(4) For the efficiency of the department and the development
job. She has worked for the company seven years and has done
of staff, consider cross-training. This allows for a smoother opermuch the same job for all that time. She arrives on time, leaves
ation when an employee is away and can also stem boredom
exactly eight hours later and has never demonstrated a desire
if that’s a problem.
There are very few absolute truths when it comes to managto take on more responsibility. Her performance appraisals show
she consistently meets expectations but nothing more. I’ve tried
ing people, so don’t be afraid to ask questions and try new things
talking to her about what else she might like to do but she says
to find something that works for both you and your staff.
she’s happy with the status quo. How can I get her excited about
her job so she will aspire to greater things and perhaps, more
Carolyn Cohen, CA, CHRP, runs a training and human resources
consulting practice in Toronto and is CAmagazine’s Technical
importantly, work harder?”
editor for People management. She can be reached at
Several thoughts come to mind in such a scenario. First, it
c.cohen@sympatico.ca.
is the employee’s responsibility to motivate herself. She is the
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TROUBLE FINDING THAT PERFECT BALANCE?
WE CAN HELP — WITH CICA WORK/LIFE TOOLS AND RESOURCES ONLINE

A CA career is a challenging one, but your life goals and demands need
and deserve so much of your time. How do you balance the two priorities?
The CICA Work/Life website is a great place to start. With online tools,
resources and specific information on work/life issues for CAs, the life
balance you’re looking for may be just at your fingertips.

Just go to www.cica.ca/worklife.
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Ambit is an executive search firm with a focus on finance
and accounting professionals. Many of Canada’s leading
companies count on our highly personalized service to
deliver the precise fit and finish for every position.
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JW Associates International
CAREER
DEVELOPMENT

EXECUTIVE
SEARCH

Business Coaching
Career Consulting
Termination Support
Outplacement

Senior Search Group
Future Leaders Group
Onboarding
Retention Consulting

Programs qualify for continuing professional development requirements

Janet Webb
President

Over 20 years experience advancing the careers of Finance/Accounting professionals

416-363-6532 info@jwassociates.ca

www.jwassociates.ca

120 Adelaide St. W, Ste 2500 Toronto, ON

1% training
OBLIGATION (Quebec)
•
•
•
•

Tired of paying all or part of the 1% ?
Will your back-up survive an audit ?
Prior years internal verifications
Pay Equity Compliance
Tel: (514) 484-5160
Fax: (514) 484-5453
E-mail: info@liwconsultants.ca
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SF
Partnership, LLP
Chartered Accountants
YOUR CROSSBORDER TAX SPECIALISTS AT HOME
■ Tax return preparation ■ IRS & state representation
■ Structuring of operations and transactions
■ Litigation support ■ US tax ID numbers
Kevyn Nightingale, CA, CPA (IL), TEP

416-250-1212

www.ustax.ca

www.sfgroup.ca

knight@ustax.ca

WANTED: BUSINESSES FOR SALE
APS.CAmag.ai
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• Qualified buyers
• 50 years experience
• Exit strategies for medium
to large businesses
Serving all of Ontario
Call Larry Mckenzie, Broker

519-673-7822
Visit our website:
www.ontariobusinessbrokers.com

We know people
416. 506. 0099 1. 866. 506. 0099
www.progressivestaffingsolutions.com

PROGRESSIVE

STAFFING SOLUTIONS INC.

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE

Rod K. Tanaka, C.A.

Tanaka Associates
Executive Search Inc.

120 Adelaide Street West, Suite 2500
Toronto, Canada M5H 1T1
Tel: (416) 410-8262
Conﬁdential fax: (416) 777-6720
E-mal: tanaka@sympatico.ca
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The Larkin Group
E x e c u t i v e

s e a r c h

Susan Larkin, CA,

MBA

2275 Upper Middle Rd. E., Suite 101 Oakville ON L6H 0C3
T : 905.491.6806 E : susan@larkingroup.ca
www.larkingroup.ca
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Professional directory
Intermediate to senior
level positions only

R

FINANCE . ACCOUNTING . MANAGEMENT
www.jobwings.com

1-888-JOBWINGS

Let us introduce you
to your next career move
www.inteqna.com
verriez@verriez.com
www.verriez.com

Since 1985

RECRUITMENT SPECIALISTS IN
TORONTO, CALGARY, VANCOUVER,
EDMONTON & HALIFAX
corp con.ai
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CORPORATE
CONSULTANTS
Financial and
Financial Executive Search
Since 1976
155 UNIVERSITY AVENUE, SUITE 1910
TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA M5H 3B7
TELEPHONE 416 862-1259 FAX 862-7926
info@corporateconsultants.com
www.corporateconsultants.com

FRANÇOYS BRUNET, CA — CONSULTING FIRM

U.S. and International Tax
Services:

Bruce R. Duncan
& Associates

RECRUITMENT
SPECIALISTS
EST. 1970

J.B. Perry
416.642.6455
jperry@bruceduncan.com
8 King Street East, Suite 1005 • Toronto, ON M5C 1B5

www.bruceduncan.com

Your business card
would fit perfectly here...

• U.S. and international tax consulting
• U.S. tax returns (individuals and corporations)
• International transaction consulting

Resources: • Our team is composed of experienced tax advisors
• Our network is established in over 100 countries
630 RENÉ-LÉVESQUE BLVD. W., • SUITE 2895 • MONTREAL • QUEBEC • H3B 1S6
TELEPHONE: (514) 938-0663 • FAX: (514) 938-1695
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Easy time and expense entry
At-a-glance monitoring
The power of SQL
All your practice management needs
at a manageable cost

CaseWare Time
caseware.com/itstime

Reach your audience
Canada’s top business decision-makers spend far more
time reading CAmagazine than any other business publication – there’s no better way to reach this influential
and affluent audience.

For more information contact:

Darcey Romeo at 416.204.3257
or: darcey.romeo @ cica.ca
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Career opportunities

The key to a successful search
Unlocking a wealth of qualiﬁed
candidates has never been easier.
• Advertise your position to over 70,000 CAs
• Access our resume database (free with every job posted)
• Include your posting in our CareerVision newsletter
• Limit applicants to CAs to ensure high quality candidates

Visit CA Source today

www.casource.com
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Your search ends here !
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Managers... to $125K
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CAprofessional1@yahoo.ca or call

sens@st-clair.net.

also available. Available September

posal administrators, receivers and

647-401-4209.

2009. Call 905-333-4000.
Toronto CA requires a current CA

managers. Toronto and Eastern
Ontario. Brief & Associates Ltd. Tel:

Canadian CA, 40 + years as a li-

to manage NFP audits and review

Yonge/Eglinton - CA firm has lux-

416-635-7337

censed public accountant, available

engagements on a per diem basis.

urious executive office, furnished

for per diem work. Provides tax con-

Possible association in the future.

or unfurnished, available imme-

CPAB / PC AOB / IC AO / OC AQ

sulting, tax return preparation, ac-

All inquiries will be acknowledged.

diately. Use of boardroom, inter-

Independence Issues? CA/CPA 20+

counting and auditing services to CAs

E-mail: casearch09@gmail.com

net, telephone line(s), copier, fax,

years experience to assist you and

and clients in the GTA area. Completed

your clients under Canadian and

CICA In-Depth Tax Course in 1985.

US GAAP with financial statement

Experienced in creating PowerPoint

and note preparation; derivative,

presentations, holding seminars, and

Free office space to the right per-

warrant and option calculations;

working with Microsoft Office 2007.

son – If you are starting your prac-

YONGE/HWY 7, Thornhill - CA firm

future and deferred taxes; rev-

Call (905) 629-8498 or e-mail Lloyd@

tice and need a place to develop,

has excellent office space avail-

enue recognition; acquisitions and

lloydlindsay.com.

we can provide you with a place

able on second floor townhouse for

scanner, reception and IT support.

OFFICE SPACE

Direct subway access. Please call
416-464-1827.
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Classified advertising
small firm or sole practitioners wish-

Contact Brannon Poe for a confiden-

and share a commitment to provid-

Durham Region CA Firm looking to

ing to share reception, boardrooms,

tial discussion at: 1-888-246-0974 or

ing exceptional client service. Please

purchase existing practice or block of

kitchen. Fully furnished, free park-

via email poe@knology.net.

forward details of your practice to ac

accounts in East GTA. Please contact

counting@firstleaside.com.

us in confidence at durhamcafirm@

ing, available immediately. Open
to association arrangements. Call

Successful Vancouver practice

(905) 889-7174.

Retiring CA offers succession oppor-

Burlington, Ontario Accountant

tunity. Two partners with $1.5M in

looking to purchase, merge or cost

gross billings. Diverse block of long-

share with another accountant in

term clients (compilation, review and

Hamilton/Burlington or surrounding

Are you frustrated by staff and con-

audit engagements with emphasis

area. Retirement or succession plans

tract individuals who do not under-

Buying or Selling a Practice in the

on tax and cross-border taxation is-

available. Excellent opportunity for

stand the difference between charge-

GTA? $200K to $1 million in fees? We

sues). Candidate to have two plus

Home Office Accountant looking to

able hours and billable hours? I am an

can help. We have client firms seeking

years of post-qualification experi-

expand. Please reply via e-mail to

accountant with small firm experience

practices for sale, and sellers seek-

ence. Preferably German speaking.

Box 635, CAmagazine.

operating in the GTA whose billings

ing a purchaser. We take the frustra-

Flexible transition assistance. Part-

tion out of the process. Service free

time would be considered. Financing

WINDSOR CA, with 6 years of public

not the hours I can charge. You can

to sellers. Call Steve McIntyre-Smith

will be provided to the right candi-

practice and industry experience,

utilize my collective skills in corpo-

at (905)842-2284, e-mail steve@

date. Reply by e-mail to lothar@

interested in succession opportu-

rate and taxation compliance work,

mcintyre-smith.com or visit our site

neweling.ca

nities within a mid-size local firm

people management, quality assur-

and/or purchasing a block of ac-

ance, investigative audits, SR&ED and

PROFESSIONAL
OPPORTUNITIES

at www.mcintyre-smith.com. Total

gmail.com.

POSITIONS WANTED

are derived from what can be billed,

confidentiality is assured. Principals/

Buyer - Toronto, Mississauga, or

counts. Please reply to Box 679,

business advisory services. If you have

partners only please.

Oakville. Sole practitioner looking to

CAmagazine.

read this far, you have the problem

expand seeks to purchase practice or

and the need. Interested? Contact me

Practice South Suburban Vancouver

block of accounts in GTA, Mississauga,

CA looking to acquire a practice,

Experienced sole practitioner wishes to

or Oakville. Please contact buyer at

from Kingston to Toronto. Minimum

work less: outright purchase, succes-

practice2buy@gmail.com

$150K gross billings. Please respond

Still confused about how to do a

to Box 680, CAmagazine.

risk-based audit? I’m a CA with 20

sion, office sharing/formula?, or early

at pufffin@rogers.com.

partnership; best suited to sole prac-

Downtown Edmonton firm looking

titioner but will consider all replies;

to expand by purchasing a practice

Accounting Practice Sales Current

ing in the Quality Assurance area. I

flexibility re payment terms and your

or a block of accounts. Interested in

Listings:

provide in-house training on risk-

experience; mostly personal tax and

$100,000 to approximately $300,000

Calgary, AB - $1,200,000

based audits as well as assistance

N to R ; good office location and lease.

in revenues. Please contact us at ed

Calgary, AB - $375,000

in QA which includes performing file

Please reply to Box 681, CAmagazine.

monton.ca@hotmail.com

South of Lloydmins t er, AB -

quality reviews and monitor reports.

$1,400,000

Procrastinate no further. Please call
Karen at 416.356.6637.

years experience, currently work-

Accounting Practice Sales – Please

Accounting Practices Wanted - We

Lloydminster, AB - $125,000

see our website at www.account

are a growing professional services

Sechelt, BC - $117,000

ingpracticesales.com. Are you ready

firm (accounting and taxation, wealth

To view the most up to date listing

to sell your practice now? Sell your

management) looking to add to our

information please visit

practice through Accounting Practice

existing accounting practice and wel-

www.accountingpracticesales.com

Sales for a fixed price without an

come any opportunities in B.C., Alberta

earn-out deal that will carry on for

or Ontario. We offer flexible succession

OTTAWA CA FIRM looking to expand

years building, operating, preparing

years. After all, if you wanted to stay

options allowing current owners to,

by purchasing practice / block of ac-

for sale and ultimately selling a suc-

in practice, why sell out? BUYERS-

at their discretion, remain involved in

counts in Ottawa. Would consider

cessful family business, can help re-

registration with us is simple and

the practice in an advisory capacity.

retirement options / merger. Contact

solve family, succession, and business

free via our website. North America’s

We also offer a premium for practices

Bruce Johnston at Ginsberg Gluzman

to business disputes. Tel 416-616-7655

leader in Accounting Practice Sales.

that, like us, are run with integrity

Fage & Levitz, LLP at 613-728-5831.

or allan@nadlersolutions.com

MEDIATION SERVICES
CA trained in Mediation, with 12
years CA practice experience and 20

Reply to CAmagazine Box Numbers via:
MAIL: CAmagazine 277 Wellington St. W.
Toronto, ON M5V 3H2
FAX: 416.204.3409
E-MAIL: advertising.camagazine@cica.ca
Please ensure that the Box # is clearly indicated on your envelope, fax or e-mail
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If you're not already getting your free issues of CICA's
newsletters, sign up today! www.cica.ca/newsletters

Stay in
the loop
Subscribe today!

CA Practice Advantage

Career Vision

Research Monitor

Directors Source News

Report On Industry

A quarterly e-newsletter
for CAs in public practice
providing a focused
overview of relevant
information. Includes many
practice aids with links to
the web-based sources.

Published 10 times
a year with articles
geared toward career
advancement and
people management.
With links to the
latest CA salary
survey information.

A bimonthly
e-newsletter providing
research report
summaries on topics
related to the work
activities of CAs.
Topics include auditing,
economics, corporate
finance and more.

A bimonthly e-newsletter
providing synopses of best
practices in governance,
regulatory changes,
professional development
opportunities, and other
governance research
and resources.

A quarterly e-newsletter
for CAs in industry
providing synopses of
relevant articles, research
and studies. Includes links
to the web-based sources.

O utlo o k

By M arcel Côté

where economics and politics meet

Corporate compensation

C

EO compensation has become a hot issue and
for many it’s more important than good gov-

ernance. Not only has executive compensation
reached unheard-of levels that bear little relation to

performance objectives, at least according to performance
assessments conducted by boards of directors.
This constant surpassing of objectives skews market
studies that seek to establish a basis for comparison. Since
most CEOs score above the median in performance year
after year, median compensation rises, causing an inflationary spiral that is reflected in market studies.
But how can more than 50% of CEOs perform better
than average year after year? This contradiction, which no
one is willing to acknowledge, is the flaw in the system
that invalidates the use of market research studies.
In comparison, the annual increase in employee salaries,
which is based on merit, seldom exceeds the rate of inflation. Why not apply the same principle to CEO salaries?

CEOs’ real contribution to value creation, but the large
bonuses they receive, even when their companies have
posted losses, are also a major irritant to shareholders.
More and more people are asking why executives should
be paid so handsomely when they are in large part responsible for the current economic crisis.
According to the Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives, the average annual compensation of CEOs of the
100 largest Canadian companies is
$10 million. These CEOs also benefit
How can more than 50% of chief executive officers
from generous pension plans that
guarantee them a lifetime annual
perform better than average year after year?
income of several hundred thousand dollars when they retire.
In comparison, the average annual salary of a worker
Since performance bonuses are a multiple of a CEO’s salin Canada is $40,000, which can climb to $50,000 in late
ary, total compensation would be indexed according to
career. A retirement pension, if it exists, is paid at 65 and
the criteria used for all the company’s employees. A CEO
typically represents 70% of a worker’s final year’s salary.
who turns in an outstanding performance could receive
a more generous bonus, but this bonus would always be
In the past 30 years, the average gap between CEO and
based on a multiple of his or her salary, which would be
worker compensation has increased to a factor of 25o from
one of 25, and moreover, workers’ salaries have barely kept
indexed in the same way as employees’ salaries. The oppoahead of inflation. Is this difference warranted? Is a CEO’s
site would apply in case of unsatisfactory performance.
contribution equivalent to the contribution of 250 employFurthermore, when CEOs are appointed, their initial
ees? The question is a valid one. But more interestingly,
salary should be realistic. Why not cap it at the higher
we should first look at how this enormous gap arose.
of two amounts: either 10% above the salary of the next
management level (instead of the typical 40% difference
The methodology used to determine a CEO’s remuneraobserved in market studies) or 10 times the average saltion is impressive, and its description takes up more than
ary of a worker?
half the annual circular sent to shareholders. It is based on
Will CEOs quit because they think they are undertwo principles. First, most of a CEO’s compensation is variable, and this aims at encouraging corporate leaders to beat
paid? I have served on a few public company compensation
the performance objectives set by the board of directors.
committees and I’ve never seen a CEO resign because of
Second, meeting these objectives allows the CEO to receive
inadequate compensation. A CEO who makes several milthe median market compensation. Exceeding them allows
lion a year to lead a company is very well paid indeed.
him or her to receive more than the median. Is there a flaw
in the way this system is structured? Yes, there is a big
Marcel Côté is founding partner at SECOR Consulting in
Montreal
one. Obviously. Most CEOs regularly exceed their annual
68 CA magazine
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The practical guidance you need to prevent
data breaches in today’s high-speed world.
The Canadian Privacy and Data Security Toolkit
for Small and Medium Enterprises by Claudiu Popa
Check out the CICA's
Privacy Resource Centre
for more privacy tools
and aids such as:

This easy-to-use Toolkit features:
• Self-assessments to help determine your organization's
data security and privacy risks

• Generally Accepted
Privacy Principles
(updated in 2009)

• Advice on privacy and security risks in areas such as
accounts payable, sales and marketing
• A CD-ROM containing checklists, informative articles,
training templates and a customizable privacy policy

• Privacy Risk
Assessment Tool

• Foreword by Jennifer Stoddart, Privacy Commissioner of Canada

• 20 Questions Businesses
Should Ask About Privacy

• Introductory chapter by Ann Cavoukian, Ph.D, Information
and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario

Order your copy today!
Visit www.cica.ca/privacy or call the CICA
order department at 1-800-268-3973.

The Most Respected Companies
in North America Trust Ryan
“The return on
investment from
Ryan goes well
beyond impressive
tax savings.”
Russell Thomas
State Tax Manager
The Hershey Company

Canada’s Complete Sales Tax Solution™ now
includes advanced AuditDefence™ services.
Canada’s Complete Sales Tax Solution™ doesn’t end with determining the tax treatment of a
particular transaction or issue.
Ryan’s advanced AuditDefence™ service provides unparalleled industry expertise and
resources that add tremendous value when representing and assisting you with the resolution
and settlement of your Federal or Provincial sales tax assessment. We scour every detail in a
pending assessment and identify tax minimization opportunities by evaluating the auditor’s
sampling methods, verifying assessment and interest calculations, researching taxability,
compiling supporting documentation, and much more. We determine which issues merit an
appeal, as well as the likelihood of success for each, and evaluate and prepare detailed findings
and case arguments.
With more than 30 years experience, Ryan develops the most strategic tax reduction techniques
available in Canada to ensure that you only pay what you owe.
For more information, please call 800.667.1600 or visit us at www.ryanco.ca.
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